Analysis and Design of Energy Efficient Frequency Synthesizers for Wireless Integrated Systems

by

Xing Chen

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Electrical Engineering) in The University of Michigan 2019

Doctoral Committee:

Associate Professor David D. Wentzloff Chair Professor Michael P. Flynn Assistant Professor Aileen Huang-Saad Assistant Professor Hun-Seok Kim Xing Chen <u>chenxing@umich.edu</u> ORCID id: 0000-0003-4506-4377

© Xing Chen 2019

To My Family and Friends

Acknowledgments

I would first like to express my gratitude to my advisor, Prof. David D. Wentzloff. This work would not have been possible without his support in every aspect. Dave has been a great mentor throughout my Ph.D. with his enthusiasm, sincerity, and care. It will continue inspiring and guiding me in my future life. I would also like to thank Prof. Michael P. Flynn, who first encouraged my interest in circuit design in EECS 413 & 511, and connected me to Dave. I would then like to thank Prof. Hun-Seok Kim, who has been offering me valuable guidance from my first chip. At last, I would like Aileen Huang-Saad for serving on my thesis committee and providing valuable advices on this work.

I'd like to thank the past and present members of the WICS group and a lot of friends in MICL and other research labs in and out Michigan. In particular David Moore, who helped me develop the basics and love for frequency synthesizers; Yao Shi, who has been a great friend and comrade from day1 in Michigan; Also Hyeongseok Kim, Elnaz Ansari, Avish Kosari, Jaeho Im, Abdullah Alghaihab, Milad Moosavifar, Omar Abdelatty, Kyle Laferty, Christine Weston, Trevor Odelberg, Yaswanth Cherivirala and Kyumin Kwon. I'd also like to thank Farah Yahya, Christopher Lukas, David Fan, etc. from Prof. Ben Calhoun and Prof. John Lack's group in UVA, and Prof. Jiaqi Gong from University of Maryland, who was also part of the ASSIST team by then. I also want to thank Kaiyuan Yang, Qing Dong, Chen Jiang, Yu-Ju Lin for their help in my study and research. I want to thank Dave again for the internship opportunity in Everactive and Yiwu Tang for the internship opportunity in Qualcomm, which are all valuable learning experience for me.

Special thanks go to all my beloved friends accompanying me throughout my Ph.D. life in Ann Arbor. Among them, I would like to thank Weitian Sheng, Shiyang Deng and Zhehong Wang, who are my previous and current roommates in NW1352, and Rundao Lu, who has almost become a half roommate. You guys make this apartment feel like a home. At last, I would like to thank all those known and unknown friends playing basketball with me throughout the years. You guys make the monotonous and difficult daily life colorful and relaxing.

My greatest gratitude goes to my parents, Zhongling Chen and Juying Liu, and my family for their tremendous love, support and encouragement. Finally, I'd like to thank my girlfriend Gang Ye. Without the warmth of her love, support and patience, I could not overcome the freezing winter in Michigan.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Dedicati	onii		
Acknowledgmentsiii			
List of F	iguresvii		
Abstract	Abstract xi		
CHAPT	ER 1 Introduction1		
1.1.	Ultra-low power radios in IoT1		
1.2.	Frequency modulation in ULP radios2		
1.3.	Frequency synthesizer as an integral part of RF transceivers		
1.4.	Thesis contributions		
CHAPT	ER 2 Phase noise in frequency modulated radios10		
2.1.	Instantateous frequency variation due to phase noise11		
2.2.	Noise modeling in an FSK link15		
2.3.	Phase noise's effect on bit error rate and effective SNR loss17		
2.4.	Phase noise's effect on frequency modulation		
2.5.	Phase noise's effect to blocker tolerance		
2.6.	Phase noise requirement in FSK TRX design and optimal FSK protocol for low power and short range communications		
2.7.	Examples of phase noise requirement from BER's perspective		
2.7.	1. A ULP FSK TX with SAR assisted FLL for high PN case29		
2.7.	2. AWG and VSG for low PN case		
CHAPT	ER 3 All digital frequency synthesizer design and modeling in FSK radios35		
3.1.	ADPLL architectures for wireless communication		
3.2.	TDC characterization		
3.3.	DAC characterization		
3.4.	DCO choices		
3.5.	Reference noise's influence		

CHAPT based A	ER 4 An ultra-low power Bluetooth Low-Energy transmitter with ring of DPLl and 4X frequency edge combiner	scillator
4.1.	Introduction	47
4.2.	System level analysis for the proposed RO based BLE TX	
4.2.	.1. Proposed ADPLL architecture	
4.2.	.2. Noise analysis with the edge combiner and the quarter RF frequen embedded TDC	cy 53
4.3.	Circuit inplementation	57
4.3.	.1. Ring oscillator	57
4.3.	.2. Current steering DAC	58
4.3.	.3. Edge combiner	59
4.3.	.4. Switched capacitor digital power amplifier	60
4.4.	Measurement results	61
4.5.	Conclusion	68
CHAPT	ER 5 Phase Noise and Frequency Accuracy in Crystal-less Wireless Ed	ge Nodes
		70
5.1.	Introduction	71
5.2.	Phase Noise, Jitter and Frequency Accuracy	73
5.2.	.1. Short term frequency accuracy related to PN and jitter	73
5.2.	.2. N-period jitter, N-period-average jitter and Allan Deviation	75
5.2.	.3. Noise shaping's impact on long term frequency accuracy	77
5.2.	.4. Flicker noise and limitation of averaging in frequency accuracy characterization	82
5.3.	An embedded filter technique in ADPLL for frequency calibration	86
5.4.	Different types of references and XO-less feasibility	
5.5.	An XO-less BLE transmitter with RF clock recovery receiver	94
5.6.	Conclusion	
CHAPT	ER 6 Conclusions	104
BIBLIO	OGRAPHY:	

List of Figures

Figure 1-1: Power consumption vs sensitivity of coherent and non-coherent radios in		
recent publications		
Figure 1-2: A generic frequency modulated ultra-low power transceiver architecture5		
Figure 2-1: TX-Phase Noise-RX model for BER analysis in FSK15		
Figure 2-2: Matched filter receiver for FSK16		
Figure 2-3: Total phase noises at different levels for simulation18		
Figure 2-4: BER vs PN for different frequency deviations19		
Figure 2-5: BER vs PN for different data rates		
Figure 2-6: BER vs PN comparison for Bluetooth Low Energy applications20		
Figure 2-7: PN's effect on effective SNR loss		
Figure 2-8: GFSK modulation requirement in BLE [12]22		
Figure 2-9: Simulated IFV vs LO phase noise between open loop oscillator and oscillator		
with 100kHz BW PLL		
Figure 2-10: Simulated IFV vs RX filter bandwidth assuming a 100kHz PLL bandwidth		
Figure 2-11: Simulated IFV vs PLL bandwidth for RO designs with varying phase noise		
Figure 2-12: Noise degradation due to reciprocal mixing [23]25		
Figure 2-13: Blocker requirement for BLE		
Figure 2-14: Block diagram of the proposed FSK transmitter		
Figure 2-15: Frequency calibration algorithm of the SAR assisted FLL29		
Figure 2-16: simulated frequency vs time of the FLL		
Figure 2-17: Measured transmission of one packet event		
Figure 2-18: Die photo of the proposed FSK transmitter		
Figure 2-19: Measurement setup for low PN case		

Figure 2-20: FSK FD & DR influence to PN and comparison between simulated and
measured results (a) Low phase noise case, and (b) high phase noise case34
Figure 3-1: simplified block diagram of the divider-less ADPLL and its working principle
Figure 3-2: Noise model of a type I divider-less ADPLL
Figure 3-3: TDC noise floor with different TDC bits and non-idealities41
Figure 3-4: DAC quantization noise modeling41
Figure 3-5: DAC noise floor with different frequency resolution
Figure 3-6: power vs phase noise between LCVCO and RO44
Figure 3-7: Reference noise's influence in total output PN46
Figure 4-1: Block diagram of the proposed RO-based all-digital BLE transmitter48
Figure 4-2: Simplified block diagram of different ADPLL architectures: (a) Divider
based ADPLL with TDC as the PD. (b) Divider-less ADPLL with TDC. (c) Divider-less
ADPLL with embedded TDC. (d) Proposed ADPLL with quarter frequency OSC and 4X
edge combiner
Figure 4-3: System level noise analysis with different noise sources including reference
noise, TDC noise, DAC noise, VCO noise and EC noise
Figure 4-4: Noise performance of the proposed ADPL – Modeled different phase noise
sources
Figure 4-5: Noise performance of the proposed ADPLL – Simulated vs Modeled total
phase noise
Figure 4-6: Noise performance of the proposed ADPLL – Measured phase noise with
corresponding IFV
Figure 4-7: Proposed 16-stage pseudo-differential ring oscillator block and the RO delay
cell with buffers
Figure 4-8: Current steering DAC for RO tuning and its major noise contributions59
Figure 4-9: Schematic of the edge combiner block and its working principle60
Figure 4-10: Programmable switch-capacitor digital power amplifier and schematic of the
PA cell
Figure 4-11: Die photo of the proposed BLE transmitter

Figure 4-12: Measured phase noise comparison: (a) Free running RO compared to the RF
output. (b) Closed loop RO compared to the RF output63
Figure 4-13: Measured PLL spurious performance and locking transient performance: (a)
Reference spur measurement (b) fractional spur measurement
Figure 4-14: Measured PLL locking time64
Figure 4-15: PA efficiency versus output power with different power supplies65
Figure 4-16: TX performance measurement: (a) Output spectrum in low-power and high-
power mode. (b) Spectrum comparison of FSK and GFSK in the PN limit region66
Figure 4-17: Captured BLE packets and eye diagram
Figure 4-18: TX harmonic measurement with external matching network67
Figure 4-19: TX power breakdown in low-power and high-power mode68
Figure 4-20: Phone connectivity measurement setup for the proposed BLE TX
Figure 5-1: Phase jitter, period jitter and cycle-to-cycle jitter relationship associated with
phase errors over time73
Figure 5-2: Physical relations among phase noise, jitter, and frequency accuracy in both
short term and long term77
Figure 5-3: Flicker, white and flat PN profiles definition (a), N-period-average jitter (b),
and Allan Deviation (c) vs time over flat, white and flicker PN profiles. For (b) and (c),
all cases assume 1GHz center frequency with sampled PN=-120dBc/Hz @ 1MHz offset
Figure 5-4: Ratio of flicker PN jitter and white PN jitter with f_0=1GHz and different
flicker noise corners
Figure 5-5: N-period-average jitter (a) and Allan Deviation (b) of typical open loop
oscillator including flat, white and flicker PN profiles in different levels85
Figure 5-6: (a) Block diagram of the proposed average processing unit embedded in
ADPLL. (b) Corresponding continuous time behavior model of the proposed frequency
calibration circuit considering only reference noise source
Figure 5-7: Programmable windowed average processing algorithm for the 'calibration
and open loop' frequency calibration scheme in XO-less wireless edge nodes

Figure 5-8: Simulated phase noise impact on N-period-average jitter and Allan Deviation
for different noise sources: (a) XO representing RTC with excellent noise performance,
(b) RC oscillator, (c) Recovered RF signal with and without modulation90
Figure 5-9: Typical range of Allan Deviation according to flicker noise of different noise
sources, and requirement for the reference clock in BLE applications94
Figure 5-10: Figure 5-10 Block diagram of the proposed XO-less BLE transmitter with
RF reference recovery receiver and timing diagram showing the frequency calibration
scheme of the LOs95
Figure 5-11 Block diagram of the proposed PLL with embedded multi-DCW average
filtering unit96
Figure 5-12: schematic of the LCDCO and the ILTDC
Figure 5-13: simulated frequency accuracy improvements of the AU with single tone and
GFSK modulated RF reference99
Figure 5-14: Measured frequency response of the TX/RX LOs over time100
Figure 5-15: Measured BLE TX spectrum and eye-diagram100
Figure 5-16: Die photo of the proposed XO-less BLE TX with RF reference recovery
receiver

Abstract

Advances in ultra-low power (ULP) circuit technologies are expanding the IoT applications in our daily life. However, wireless connectivity, small form factor and long lifetime are still the key constraints for many envisioned wearable, implantable and maintenance-free monitoring systems to be practically deployed at a large scale. The frequency synthesizer is one of the most power hungry and complicated blocks that not only constraints RF performance but also offers subtle scalability with power as well. Furthermore, the only indispensable off-chip component, the crystal oscillator, is also associated with the frequency synthesizer as a reference.

This thesis addresses the above issues by analyzing how phase noise of the LO affect the frequency modulated wireless system in different aspects and how different noise sources in the PLL affect the performance. Several chip prototypes have been demonstrated including: 1) An ULP FSK transmitter with SAR assisted FLL; 2) A ring oscillator based all-digital BLE transmitter utilizing a quarter RF frequency LO and 4X frequency multiplier; and 3) An XO-less BLE transmitter with an RF reference recovery receiver. The first 2 designs deal with noise sources in the PLL loop for ultimate power and cost reduction, while the third design deals with the reference noise outside the PLL and explores a way to replace the XO in ULP wireless edge nodes. And at last, a comprehensive PN theory is proposed as the design guideline.

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1. Ultra-low power radios in the Internet of Things

In the past few decades, advances in integrated circuit design has enabled numerous applications ranging from wearable health care monitoring systems to environmental sensing platforms and foreseen trillions of inter-connected IoT devices in the near future [1]. Long life time, low cost, small form factor and wireless capability are still the key constraints for many envisioned wearable, implantable and maintenance-free monitoring systems to be practically deployed in a large scale. Due to its relatively high-power consumption and indispensable external components, the radio often dominates the budget [2] of such devices, thus, reducing the power and cost of the radio sub-system can effectively increase operational lifetime, enable battery-less and maintenance free operation, and decrease the total size and cost of such devices. However, reducing radio power can be very challenging as there are important tradeoff between power consumption and performance metrics such as output power, sensitivity, and interference resilience.

Lots of research has been done to bring down the power consumption of the radio in the edge node while pushing all the computation and power in the base station with proprietary asymmetrical communication protocols [3-5]. But these designs either tradeoff power to significantly lower data rates, more severe interference and multiple access issues, or suffer from an extra bulky and power-hungry aggregator as the interface to widely used computational platforms. They also do not comply with any existing wireless standard, limiting their widespread adoption. Thus, wireless standard compatibility of such devices is desirable as personal devices such as cell phones, personal computers and tablets with rich energy sources are the ideal base-stations of the inter-connected IoT devices in short range wireless sensor networks. It can provide excellent direct connectivity, local computing and data analysis efficiently without any extra interface. However, the power and performance tradeoff for such radio designs will become more stringent across all the layers including protocol, modulation, architecture and circuit design. Yet the bottom line is the same: deliver an effective amount of signal energy over the ubiquitous noise in all kinds of format. And the purpose of this thesis is to discover the bottom line of the tradeoffs, analyze the theoretical limits according to application emphasis, and offer several ULP radio chip prototypes with different techniques for verification.

1.2. Frequency modulation in ULP radios

Modulation scheme plays a very important role in reducing the power consumption of the radio as it is directly related to the complexity of the overall architecture and specifications of different sub-systems. Figure 1-1 shows the ULP radios publications dated back to 2005 [6]. Radios adopting a non-coherent modulation scheme such as on-off keying (OOK) or frequency-shift keying (FSK) show much more scalability in power consumption across different sensitivity levels, while others with coherent modulation schemes such as quadrature amplitude modulation (QAM) or phase-shift keying (PSK) are all relatively high power, despite a generally superior performance in sensitivity due to its better spectral efficiency and error probability performance over the same effective signal to noise radio (SNR) [7]. Thus, coherent modulations are appealing in long range and high throughput applications with limited frequency band resources. But its stringent requirement in phase noise and power amplifier (PA) linearity makes it hard to reduce the power any further, making it inappropriate in ULP designs where power consumption is the primary concern.



Figure 1-1. Power consumption vs sensitivity of coherent and non-coherent radios in recent publications

Among the non-coherent modulation schemes, even though OOK and relative pulse modulated transceivers tend to have a generally lower power consumption due to their simpler architecture and the duty cycle nature of such modulation, frequency modulations such as FSK are superior in several aspects. Due to the consecutive on-off switching of the OOK modulation, the bandwidth increases compared to FSK modulation using the same data rate. Thus, FSK is more spectral efficient. The increased bandwidth requires a larger filter bandwidth which will increase the noise floor, and this will result in degradation in sensitivity. To achieve a similar sensitivity, data rate has to be sacrificed. Recent advances in pulse modulation-based radios, especially wakeup radios have brought the power consumption down to Nano Watt level [4, 8-11]. The overall power saving from duty cycling in a single edge node is achieved by trading off performances in data rate, sensitivity and interference resilience, making it less appealing in massive inter-connected sensor networks for IoT applications. As it solely emphasizes the lowest power while neglecting the tradeoffs from duty cycle, it has rarely been adopted in any widely used commercial standards.

Frequency modulation, on the other hand, could be a better fit in such applications. It not only cherishes benefits of the simple architecture from pulse modulated radios but can be very versatile in design as well. When targeted for the lowest power with least required performance in a lot of proprietary protocols, sub-system blocks such as the local oscillator can be designed as low power as the pulse modulated counter-part, using injection locked or even free running low power ring oscillators. And when performance is required, it can offer the decent spectral efficiency and network capacity and be compatible with several mainstream communication standards that are already widely adopted in existing personal mobile devices such as Bluetooth Low Energy (BLE). BLE utilizes Gaussian Frequency Shift Keying (GFSK) at 2.4GHz ISM band with 40 2 MHz wide channels [12] and its overall radio-frequency specification is also quite relaxed. BLE compliant transmitters consuming only a few hundred μW have been reported recently [13, 14], showing great compatibility of FSK in standardized ULP radio designs and huge market opportunities of standard compatible wireless IoT devices with BLE's deep penetration in mobile platforms.



Figure 1-2. A generic frequency modulated ultra-low power transceiver architecture

The most power consuming circuit blocks in frequency modulated ULP radios can be defined in two categories: Signal Gain blocks and the local oscillator, as shown in Figure 1-2. The signal gain blocks are directly related to the link budget, which is a straightforward tradeoff between power consumption and effective communication range. Here we can take them as a unified block in the TX-RX link. In recent ULP RX designs, passive mixer first architectures have become more and more popular [Cornell paper] and achieve comparable noise figures of the RX signal chain. Thus, the power amplifier in such radios is dominating the power budget together with the local oscillator since the IF gain block and filtering circuit blocks consume much less power. The minimum output power of a transmitter can be found using Friis equation:

$$P_{TX} = P_{RX} - G_{ANT} - 20 \log_{10} \frac{\lambda}{4\pi D}$$
 (1-1)

where D is the distance and λ is the wavelength. The path loss for 10 m for 2.4GHz signal is around 60dB while a 1-2 m path loss is around 40-50dB, theoretically. Taking BLE as an example, typical BLE RXs have a sensitivity close to -90dBm. Although environmental surroundings such as human body will possess extra loss, a -20dBm output power from a transmitter will be sufficient to communicate within 3 meters. The power consumption of that PA can be brought down to as low as 100µW.

The power and performance tradeoff of the local oscillator (LO) in frequency modulated ULP radios is much more complicated, as the LO introduced phase noise (PN) can either affect the effective SNR and bit error rate (BER) performance or impact the frequency modulation quality and RX blocker performance. There has yet been a unified theory targeted for phase noise requirement and performance tradeoffs in ULP FSK radio designs. In this thesis, instantaneous frequency variation (IFV) will be introduced to serve as an intuitive link between system level specifications in FSK radios and phase noise requirements for the LO, and theoretical limits for different levels of requirements will be provided as well.

1.3. Frequency synthesizer as an integral part of the RF transceiver

The design of frequency synthesizers in RF transceivers has been one of the most challenging parts of wireless system designs. On the one hand, it has to meet phase noise and spur performance requirements, as both affect the spectral purity of the local oscillator. In direct modulated transmitters, phase noise will directly affect the output spectrum. And in the receiver design, any excessive phase noise or spurs falling into the adjacent channels will result in potential SNR degradation due to reciprocal mixing. On the other hand, its power consumption has to be minimized due to limited power budget in a wireless system. It is especially true for ULP radios where the LO could take more than half of the total power. Moreover, the synthesizer has to be fast enough in settling time in applications where frequency hopping is needed to combat various channel fading and interferences, such as BLE.

Thus, it becomes quite tricky and rigorous to design the frequency synthesizer for ULP radios that can offer just enough noise performance while consuming the minimum amount of power. It is good to design frequency synthesizer according to the most stringent requirement in a transceiver, such as the blocker and reciprocal mixing requirement in a receiver. However, its power consumption would be as high as a few milliwatts and make such design impossible to be adopted in a self-powered edge node where the total power budget is below a few hundred microwatts. Thus, it might be necessary to revisit the network protocols and system level architectures to create a standard compatible asymmetric communication, such as in BLE, where the edge nodes can be characterized as non-connectable transmit only devices in BLE advertising channels as long as the LO in the TX meets the FSK modulation specification in BLE. As will be disclosed in chapter II, the phase noise requirement from the BLE FSK modulation specification is much relaxed compared to general BLE designs and it enables the first reported ring oscillator based BLE designs with the total power less than 500 µW.

1.4. Thesis contributions

This thesis focuses on circuit and system designs for ULP frequency modulated radios with a special emphasis on phase noise theory analysis and energy efficient frequency synthesizer design. The goal is to bring standard compliance (such as BLE) into ULP radio design with a vision to bring the benefits of battery-less and maintenance-free operation to the Internet of Things in a very expansive market. The main contributions of this thesis are in the following areas:

- 1. Phase noise analysis in ULP radios A phase noise analysis in frequency modulated radios is proposed based on prior PN theories, which links the system level specifications in FSK, such as frequency deviation, data rate, modulation index, etc. to the phase noise requirement for the frequency synthesizer design. Instantaneous frequency variation (IFV) is introduced for such analysis. The analysis results in different phase noise limits corresponding to bit error rate (BER) performance, FSK modulation performance, and blocker performance for the guidance of system level characterization in proprietary protocols, and frequency synthesizer as well as its sub-circuits design in standard compliant radios.
- 2. Ring oscillator based ULP FSK transmitters 2 prototype FSK TX chips are proposed and verified. The 1st FSK TX is designed at 2.4GHz for a battery-less 507nW SoC in correspond to the phase noise limit for BER performance. The 1st TX utilized an open loop ring oscillator with a SAR-assisted frequency locked loop for initial frequency calibration. The 2nd TX is a BLE compliant transmitter using a ring oscillator based ADPLL and a 4X frequency edge combiner in accordance with the phase noise limit in BLE modulation performance. The TX is the first reported RO based BLE design with a peak power of 486µW and 40X chip area saving while configured as advertiser talking to a phone.
- Analysis of Phase Noise and Frequency Accuracy in Crystal-less Wireless Edge Nodes – A general theory associating phase noise and frequency accuracy in both short term and long term is proposed. As an extension to contribution 1, which

focuses more on the radio system level characterization, this section focuses more on phase noise shaping's impact on various kinds of jitters and frequency stability (such as Allan Deviation) in the local oscillator sub-system. The reference noise's impact is specifically analyzed for potential crystal oscillator replacement in ULP wireless edge nodes, such as RTC, RC oscillator and RF clock harvesting.

4. XO-less BLE transmitter design – This is a cooperative research project that includes several prototype chips based on the theory proposed in contribution 3. The contributions involved in this thesis include characterization of the noise requirement PLL reference for valid BLE communication; an ADPLL utilizing an embedded moving average filter for accurate frequency calibration with noisy reference (RC oscillator) and open loop LCVCO in prototype chip 1; and a RF clock recovery circuit incorporating with a back-channel BLE RX for coarse tuning in prototype chip 2.

CHAPTER 2

Phase noise in frequency modulated radios

Phase noise (PN) has always been a fundamental factor in the design of wireless communication systems. To meet the PN requirement, a relatively large amount of power is consumed in the local oscillator (LO), buffers, and RF frequency synthesizer. This is especially true for ultra-low power (ULP) radios, where the LO typically consumes 50%-80% of the total power. Some pulse modulations such as OOK allow us to design an ULP radio with a free running ring oscillator (RO) with relatively poor PN, or no oscillator at all. However, the low resilience of OOK to noise and interference limits the scaling of these radios for large numbers of personal area network nodes in IoT applications. Thus, it will be extremely helpful to clarify the relationship between the PN requirement and its influence on FSK and enable us to intrinsically save radio power.

FSK modulation and its BER performance has been well studied since modern communication systems came into use [15], [16], but in the presence of only AWGN channel noise. Ref [17] analyzed the effect of circuit imperfections and found that phase noise effectively adds a higher noise floor and only affects the BER when the carrier-tonoise ratio is high. However, it doesn't include a quantitative analysis of how phase noise directly affects the BER and which FSK parameter has a more significant impact on the phase noise requirement of a radio system. This chapter analyzes the direct relationship of PN in a TX-RX link, as well as the PN profile in free-running LOs and locked PLLs, to FSK parameters such as frequency deviation (FD) and data rate (DR), using instantaneous frequency variation (IFV) as a link. It then offers a PN boundary for a given BER requirement for FSK radios. And from there, a more stringent PN requirement associated with frequency modulation specifications in FSK is derived and analyzed for standard compliant (such as BLE) ULP FSK transmitter designs. Finally, PN's influence in blocker tolerance and reciprocal mixing in FSK RX designs is analyzed in the aspect of noise power. With different levels of design concerns associated with system level specifications in FSK, the resulting PN requirements will be helpful for designers to effectively, efficiently and flexibly design the circuits with the lowest power to its physical limit while maintaining the desired performance.

2.1. Instantaneous frequency variation due to phase noise

In order to clarify the relationship between PN and frequency deviation in FSK, it's necessary to find out the relation between PN and real time frequency variation. The real time frequency variation is related to period jitter but must be treated as a random process, and cannot be directly inverted. Period jitter is the standard deviation of the normally distributed clock period around its mean value. Assume on average the clock has a period of *T* and thus a frequency of F = 1/T, and due to phase noise, at a random point in time, the instantaneous relationship between period and frequency is:

$$T + \Delta t = \frac{1}{F + \Delta f}$$
(2-1)

Which can be rewritten as follows when delta f is \ll F:

$$1 + \frac{\Delta t}{T} = \frac{1}{1 + \frac{\Delta f}{F}} \approx 1 - \frac{\Delta f}{F}$$
(2-2)

For RF frequency synthesizers, the center frequency is much larger than its frequency variations, thus by using the Taylor expansion, the relation can be further simplified as:

$$\Delta f \approx -F^2 \Delta t \tag{2-3}$$

This indicates that frequency variation changes in the same way as period jitter. The frequency over time of a free running RO is measured using a Tektronix MDO4000C and shows that the distribution of frequency is Gaussian and that its standard deviation scales up with center frequency. This also implies that frequency variation and period jitter are ergodic and their time average is the same as the average over frequency or period space when there is no frequency drift.

The relationship of phase noise to period jitter has been well studied in [18]-[21] and the link between jitter to phase noise is:

$$\sigma_{\tau}^{2} = \int_{0}^{\infty} S_{\tau}(f) df = \frac{1}{f_{0}^{4}} \int_{0}^{\infty} S_{\phi}(f) f^{2} sinc^{2} \left(\frac{\pi f}{f_{0}}\right) df \qquad (2-4)$$

It can be further simplified as:

$$\sigma_{\tau}^2 = \frac{2}{\pi f_0^3} \int_0^\infty \mathcal{L}(f) f^2 df \int_0^\infty sinc^2(x) dx \qquad (2-5)$$

Where $\mathcal{L}(f)$ is the PN PSD. With only white noise taken into consideration, $\mathcal{L}(f)f^2$ is a constant. And as $\int_0^\infty sinc^2(x)dx = \pi/2$, thus, across the whole single side band (SSB), the relation between period jitter and PN can be simplified as:

$$\mathcal{L}(f) = \frac{\sigma_{\tau}^2 f_0^3}{f^2}$$
(2-6)

With the approximation from period jitter to instantaneous frequency variation (IFV) as indicated in equation (2-3), the link between phase noise and IFV is:

$$\mathcal{L}(f) \approx \frac{\sigma_f^2}{f_0 f^2} \tag{2-7}$$

(2-6) is the classical link between jitter and PN [18], with a relation to IFV in (2-7) when noise in the whole SSB is considered. This result shows that whenever the frequency variation of an oscillator is doubled, the phase noise will increase by 6dB. However, when it comes to the phase noise impact in radio circuit designs, we need to consider the noise filtering effect in the receiver. Assuming a brick wall filter in the RX with a bandwidth BW_{rx} :

$$\sigma_{\tau}^{2} = \frac{2}{\pi f_{0}^{3}} \mathcal{L}(f) f^{2} \int_{0}^{\frac{BW_{rx}\pi}{f_{0}}} sinc^{2}(x) dx \qquad (2-8)$$

Since the RX bandwidth is much smaller than the carrier frequency, the integral of the squared sinc function can be approximated as:

$$\int_{0}^{\frac{BW_{rx}\pi}{f_0}} \operatorname{sinc}^2(x) dx \approx Si\left(\frac{2BW_{rx}\pi}{f_0}\right) \approx \frac{2BW_{rx}\pi}{f_0}$$
(2-9)

Thus, with the RX filter, the relation among jitter, PN and IFV can be modified as:

$$\sigma_{\tau}^{2} = \frac{4BW_{rx}}{f_{0}^{4}} \mathcal{L}(f)f^{2}$$
 (2-10)

$$\sigma_f^2 = 4BW_{rx}\mathcal{L}(f)f^2 \tag{2-11}$$

This offers a simple intuition for circuit designers that once the RX filter BW is known, the PN spec at certain offset, say 1MHz, can be calculated directly from the system level requirements for the frequency modulated signal. Next, we consider the case where a PLL affects the PN noise shaping. When the PLL has a bandwidth BW_{pll} , and with all the PLL noise sources taken into account, the in-band PN can be approximated as a constant \mathcal{L}_{in} . So (2-9) becomes:

$$\sigma_{\tau}^{2} = \frac{2\mathcal{L}_{in}}{f_{0}^{4}} \int_{0}^{BW_{pll}} \frac{f_{0}^{2}}{\pi^{2}} \sin^{2}\left(\frac{\pi f}{f_{0}}\right) df + \frac{2\mathcal{L}_{in}f_{BW_{pll}}^{2}}{f_{0}^{4}} \int_{BW_{pll}}^{BW_{rx}} \operatorname{sinc}^{2}\left(\frac{\pi f}{f_{0}}\right) df \quad (2-12)$$

Simplified as:

$$\sigma_{\tau}^{2} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2\pi^{3}f_{0}} \left(\frac{2\pi BW_{pll}}{f_{0}} - \sin\left(\frac{2\pi BW_{pll}}{f_{0}}\right) \right) + \\ \frac{4}{f_{0}^{4}} \left(BW_{rx} - BW_{pll} \right) BW_{pll}^{2} \end{cases} \mathcal{L}_{in} \qquad (2 - 13)$$
$$\sigma_{f}^{2} = \begin{cases} \frac{f_{0}^{3}}{2\pi^{3}} \left(\frac{2\pi BW_{pll}}{f_{0}} - \sin\left(\frac{2\pi BW_{pll}}{f_{0}}\right) \right) + \\ 4 \left(BW_{rx} - BW_{pll} \right) BW_{pll}^{2} \end{cases} \mathcal{L}_{in} \qquad (2 - 14)$$

Note that (2-13) and (2-14) show that the larger the PLL bandwidth, the larger the jitter and IFV. That is because in these equations, the in-band phase noise is set as a constant, and larger BW means a higher oscillator PN. On the other hand, larger BW means lower \mathcal{L}_{in} if the oscillator PN is preset. In PLL designs, the in-band PN is a more valuable spec than the oscillator spot PN at certain offset, since it also defines specs for other circuit blocks, which are also major PLL noise sources such as the reference, divider, TDC, and DAC, etc. For the $BW_{rx} < BW_{pll}$ case, the PN, jitter and IFV relations are shown as follows:

$$\sigma_{\tau}^{2} = \frac{1}{2\pi^{3} f_{0}} \left(\frac{2\pi B W_{rx}}{f_{0}} - \sin\left(\frac{2\pi B W_{rx}}{f_{0}}\right) \right) \mathcal{L}_{in}$$
(2-15)

$$\sigma_f^2 = \frac{f_0^3}{2\pi^3} \left(\frac{2\pi B W_{rx}}{f_0} - \sin\left(\frac{2\pi B W_{rx}}{f_0}\right) \right) \mathcal{L}_{in}$$
(2-16)

This case is very useful for RO based designs where RO PN is the dominant noise source for PLL design and it needs to be regulated with a wide PLL bandwidth.

The above derivations show the relationship among PN, jitter, and IFV with only white noise taken into consideration. Introducing a flicker noise corner in the model will make the theoretical approximation much more complicated with very limited model accuracy improvement. As in PLL regulated cases, the in-band PN floor is contributed by different noise sources such as the TDC, DAC, and reference, thus, a flat noise floor is a straightforward and quite accurate representation. And in practical open loop LC oscillator based designs, the slow frequency drift due to flicker noise (<10 kHz within 1ms) will be recalibrated before each data packet.



2.2. Noise modeling in an FSK link

Figure 2-1 TX-Phase Noise-RX model for BER analysis in FSK

In order to verify the analysis of the phase noise influence on frequency variations and its impact on FSK parameters such as frequency deviation (FD) and data rate (DR), a simple TX - phase noise - RX model was built. White noise in circuits can either affect the phase noise or increase the noise floor while the AWGN channel noise only affects the noise floor. It is more straightforward to model the total additive noise together when designing a communication link, as shown in Figure 2-1.

Transmitted data are directly FSK modulated and sent to the noisy circuits and channel, where phase noise is added mostly from the local oscillators (LO), and the noise floor is increased by both. Then the noisy signal is sent to the RX baseband for demodulation and the BER is calculated. This will offer a direct relationship between just LO phase noise and BER. We assume a representative FSK receiver implementation with a digital phase discriminator and frequency domain matched filter as shown in Figure 2-2.



Figure 2-2 Matched filter receiver for FSK

Noting that phase noise will be independently added together from both TX and RX, so from the design prospective, the phase noise specifications for each radio could either be set from the model with a 3 dB margin, if the same synthesizer is used for both, or that one (e.g. TX in a sensor node) be directly set from this model if the other one, say RX in the base-station, has a much better PN performance for the purposes of blocker tolerance and reciprocal mixing.

Three cases representing different phase noise levels in different application focuses will be discussed in the following sessions. The 1st case discusses the phase noise effect in bit error rate (BER) when PN is the dominant noise source in a high SNR regime. The PN

is at a high level where the IFV is comparable to frequency deviation in a FSK radio and the BER performance will be directly impacted. It is useful to define the worst case PN limit in an FSK link for single channel communications in certain proprietary protocols where power consumption is the primary concern. Since the phase noise level is relatively high, its influence on the effective SNR loss will be discussed as well. The 2nd case talks about the PN effect to FSK modulation quality. In this case, the IFV due to PN is much smaller than the frequency deviation, thus BER performance won't be practically affected. However, the IFV in standardized protocols is restricted by certain modulation requirements such as eye diagram and modulation index. Bluetooth Low-Energy (BLE) is taken as an example in this analysis to show the PN limit in a BLE TX design for the lowest power. This limit is useful for ultra-low power standard compliant or compatible radio designs in low power wireless sensor networks. The 3rd case, to be comprehensive, discusses the phase noise requirement in standard compliant radio designs, especially receivers, specifically to deal with blockers and reciprocal mixings. This is always used in defining LO specifications in different communication standards for the purpose of optimal performance regardless of modulations. These 3 different levels of limits offer insights to PN's effect in FSK radios and flexibilities in the LO and its sub-circuit designs for a balanced power-performance tradeoff. Details will be discussed as follows.

2.3. Phase noise's effect to BER and effective SNR loss

As discussed in 2.1, the IFV due to the phase noise of the LO is ergodic and its time average is the same as the average over frequency space. The IFV follows the same distribution of the period jitter while scaling up with center frequency, and without significant spurious tones in the LO output, they all follow a Gaussian distribution in general cases. In the high SNR regime, phase noise's effect to BER in the LO varies with different frequency deviations (FD) and data rates (DR).

The simulation results of PN vs BER at different FSK FD and DR are shown below. Figure 2-3 shows the phase noise added with different phase noise levels while the noise floor is kept the same at -110dBm, which is the same noise floor when capturing measured data with a MDO4000C spectrum analyzer. The phase noise is shaped by a simple type I order I PLL with a 1MHz BW to suppress flicker noise, thus the noise has a -10dB/dec rolloff in band and -20dB/dec rolloff out of band. The phase noise levels @ 1MHz offset are sampled as the X-axis for the PN vs BER plot.



Figure 2-3 Total phase noises at different levels for simulation

Figure 2-4 shows how the BER changes with the FSK FD when the PN are kept the same for different traces. It shows that whenever the FSK frequency deviation is doubled, the phase noise requirement could be relaxed by 6dB to achieve the same BER, which agrees with previous analysis on phase noise over frequency variation. Meanwhile, if DR is doubled, as shown in Figure 2-5, phase noise should be 3dB better to achieve the same BER. The reason is that when doubling the data rate, energy per bit will be halved and thus

the total in band noise has to be reduced by 3dB to maintain the same E_b/N_0 . The result is by increasing both the FSK frequency deviation (signal bandwidth) and the data rate by a factor of 2 while the modulation index remains the same, the spectral efficiency remains constant (bits/Hz), the PN specification could be relaxed by 3dB.



Figure 2-4 BER vs PN for different frequency deviations



Figure 2-5 BER vs PN for different data rates

Figure 2-6 shows such a comparison using Bluetooth Low Energy (BLE) as an example. As in BLE 5.0, it supports a high data rate mode with 2Msym/s with a 1 MHz frequency deviation compared to previous BLE 4.2 where the DR is set to 1Msym/s with 500 kHz FD. So simply from the BER's perspective, the LO's phase noise requirement could be significantly relaxed as opposed to general designs considering the blockers in a typical BLE receiver. In order to achieve a BER smaller than 10⁻⁴, BLE 4.2 only needs a type I PLL-with 1MHz bandwidth and a low power RO with -83 dBc/Hz phase noise (@ 1MHz offset to meet the BER requirement. For the newly released BLE 5.0 in high data rate mode (2x the FD and DR of BLE 4.2), the phase noise requirement is about -80 dBc/Hz.



Figure 2-6 BER vs PN comparison for Bluetooth Low Energy applications

All the above results are based on the high SNR assumption and the contribution from white noise are ignored. However, as the excessive phase noise in these cases are high and can affect the effective SNR for receiver designs, especially when sensitivity is one important concern, its impact has to be evaluated. The relationship between sensitivity and required SNR is as follows:

$$S_i = NF + N_f + SNR_e \tag{2-17}$$

Where NF is the noise figure of the receiver and the N_f is the noise floor which is related to the receiver bandwidth:

$$N_f = -174 + 10\log_{10}(BW_{rx}) \tag{2-18}$$

And the effective SNR can be divided into:

$$SNR_e = SNR_w - 10\log_{10}\left(1 + \frac{P_{PN}}{P_{AW}}\right)$$
 (2 - 19)

Where SNR_w is white noise referred SNR and P_{PN} , P_{AW} represent the noise power of phase noise and white noise, respectively. Using the same model in 2.2, the simulated PN vs SNR and PN vs effective SNR loss assuming a free running VCO with FD = 500 kHz and DR = 100 ksym/s are shown in Figure 2-7. An example of an ultra-low power FSK transmitter utilizing a free running ring oscillator and a SAR assisted frequency locked loop to verify the BER defined phase noise limit will be discussed in section 2.8.



Figure 2-7 PN's effect on effective SNR loss

2.4. Phase noise's effect on frequency modulation

While BER can be a good indicator of whether an FSK transmitter communicates with a corresponding FSK receiver at the minimum requirement, it is not an effective way to evaluate the quality of the FSK communication. In most cases, there are certain specifications in the frequency modulation requirement. For example, as shown in Figure 2-8, BLE requires a > 370kHz minimum frequency difference for a ± 250 kHz frequency deviation and the zero crossing error has to be better than $\pm 1/8$ of a symbol period [12]. The IFV derived in session 2.1 can offer an intuitive link between spot/in-band phase noise to a system level spec in frequency modulated radios. This is because the $6\sigma_f$ of the IFV is approximately the peak-to-peak frequency error, and spot/in-band PN is a direct indicator of oscillator/PLL design.



Figure 2-8. GFSK modulation requirement in BLE [12]

As BLE requires > 370kHz minimum frequency difference for a ± 250 kHz FD, a 3 σ_f < 65*kHz* can be used to define the PN spec (40 kHz for GFSK but in the noise limited region, Gaussian shaping won't effectively improve the spectrum efficiency). Figure 2-9 shows that the resulting IFV vs PN. 2 cases are compared using open loop oscillators and PLL regulated oscillators when the PLL bandwidth is set to 100kHz as a typical RF synthesizer design. The results are comparable, and it leaves a big margin to the 65kHz BLE requirement using LCVCO, which indicates an over-design in the LO noise-power penalty. The receiver filter bandwidth is set to 2 MHz, same as the BLE channel bandwidth. And as indicated in equation (2-10)-(2-16), the receiver filter bandwidth also has a significant impact on the resulting IFV with different LO phase noise shaping. Figure 2-10 shows the simulated IFV vs receiver bandwidth assuming a -110dBc/Hz VCO with a 100 kHz bandwidth PLL. Figure 2-11 further shows that with a wide band PLL to suppress the in-band PN, an ULP RO can also achieve the target. An example of the first reported ring oscillator based BLE transmitter designed at this theoretical phase noise limit will be discussed in detail in chapter 4.



Figure 2-9 Simulated IFV vs LO phase noise between open loop oscillator and oscillator with 100kHz

BW PLL.



Figure 2-10 Simulated IFV vs RX filter bandwidth assuming a 100kHz PLL bandwidth



Figure 2-11 Simulated IFV vs PLL bandwidth for RO designs with varying phase noise

2.5. Phase noise's effect on blocker tolerance

The above analysis and simulation results show that in FSK transmitter designs, the phase noise requirements necessary to offer valid up-link/down-link communications or to
meet modulation specifications are much relaxed compared to state-of-the-art designs [13, 22]. The IFV can be a direct link between system level specifications such as frequency deviation to in-band/spot phase noise requirements in the LO sub-system design. However, for receiver designs, especially those without external narrowband RF filtering, PN has to be considered in a different way as well. Even with RF filters to filter out of band (OOB) interference, blocker from adjacent channels (ACI) can also degrade the noise figure when it mixes with LO phase noise [23-25], as shown in Figure 2-12. It deposits additive noise in the receive channel proportional to the blocker amplitude. This phenomenon is called "reciprocal" mixing. Thus, LO phase noise has to be specified from interference performance requirement in system level.



Figure 2-12 Noise degradation due to reciprocal mixing [23]

If we assume the LO has a PN characterized by $\mathcal{L}(f)$ and the blocker has a total power of P_B , then reciprocal mixing will add the following noise power to the signal:

$$N_{rm} = P_B + \mathcal{L}(f_B) + 10\log_{10}(BW)$$
 (2-20)

Where N_{rm} is the in-band noise power introduced by reciprocal mixing and BW is the RX filter bandwidth. Assume the carrier power is P_C and the required SNR by the standard is SNR_m , then the PN requirement can be derived from the following equation:

$$\mathcal{L}(f_B) \le P_C - P_B - 10\log_{10}BW - SNR_m \tag{2-21}$$

Taking BLE as an example again, the blocker specification is shown in Figure 2-13. So the phase noise requirement at certain offsets in BLE are:

$$\mathcal{L}(\Delta f = 1M) \le -21 - (-15) - 63 - 9 = -79 \left[\frac{dBc}{Hz} \right]$$
 (2 - 22)

$$\mathcal{L}(\Delta f = 2M) \le -21 - (17) - 63 - 9 = -110[dBc/Hz]$$
 (2 - 23)

$$\mathcal{L}(\Delta f \ge 3M) \le -21 - (-27) - 63 - 9 = -120 \left[\frac{dBc}{Hz} \right]$$
 (2 - 24)



Figure 2-13 Blocker requirement for BLE

Thus, for LO designs in the BLE RX, the spot PN requirement is basically set by $\mathcal{L}(\Delta f = 4M)$ as the 2nd adjacent channel is 4MHz away. If using an LC VCO in the LO, a -108dBc/Hz spot PN at 1MHz offset can meet both requirements in modulation and blocker performance. For ring oscillator based designs, large bandwidth PLL and extra noise cancelling techniques have to be adopted even though the modulation requirement can be easily met. A detailed example of BLE TRX using RO in the LO design will be discussed in chapter5.

2.6. Phase noise requirement in FSK TRX design and optimal FSK protocol for low power and short range communications

As analyzed above, phase noise in the local oscillator has multiple effects on frequency modulated radio designs. From the BER or modulation quality's perspective, the 3σ instantaneous frequency variation (IFV) represents the frequency error that can be directly compared to system required frequency deviation. This is helpful for ULP short range FSK transmitter designs as it sets the maximum phase noise limits that correspond to the possible minimum power consumption without violating FCC spectrum masks and standard specifications. On the other hand, LO phase noise in a receiver can degrade its noise performance due to reciprocal mixing. Every dB increase in blocker power must be compensated by a dB decrease in the phase noise in order to maintain the same SNR of the design [26]. Thus, better phase noise performance is always appreciated in the RX design unless energy efficient noise cancellation techniques [24,25] can be used.

In a certain protocol, the PN limit set by IFV and blocker can be very different. As in BLE, in order to achieve the 65 kHz 3σ IFV, an 80μ W RO with -80dBc/Hz PN@1MHz offset can be used while the blocker specification would require the PN to be less than -110dBc/Hz @1MHz offset and it would be costly to use RO in such designs. But the power consumption of LCVCOs with on chip inductors cannot be reduced further down to several hundred of μ W, no matter the performance, or the oscillation can't be sustained. Thus, a general LO solution for both transceiver designs will unavoidably results in extra power

penalty. Thus, standardized asymmetric communication, where the transmitter edge nodes and receiver base-station can be treated separately, will be ideal in a lot of low power applications. The transmitter and its LO on the edge node with limited power sources could be designed according to the IFV PN requirement for ultimate low power at its limit while the receiver base-station with sufficient energies can be designed using the blocker PN requirement for the sake of performance.

An interesting simulation result in section 2.3 shows that a 2 times increase in FSK frequency deviation will offer 6dB relaxation on phase noise requirement, while a doubled data rate will only require an extra 3dB when the noise out of the band is effectively filtered. So simply from the BER perspective, a 'wider' but 'faster' FSK modulation is preferred over the 'narrower' but 'slower' one in ultra-low power short range communications where sensitivity is not the primary concern and the LO power can be saved for a more relaxed PN requirement [22].

2.7. Examples of phase noise requirement from BER's perspective

This section shows examples for verifying the PN limit from the BER's perspective. To verify the accuracy of the system model, more cases are simulated and 2 reference measurement tests are executed. A VSG is used to verify the case for very good phase noise performance and a fabricated chip with a free running RO and a successive approximation (SAR) assisted frequency locked loop (FLL) is used to verify the case for very poor phase noise performance.



2.7.1. A ULP FSK TX with SAR assisted FLL for high PN case

Figure 2-14 Block diagram of the proposed FSK transmitter

Figure 2-14 shows the block diagram of the proposed ULP FSK transmitter. Three major techniques are used to reduce the total power consumption below 1mW: 1) the TX only transmits in one advertising channel packet with open loop direct modulation after every



Figure 2-15 Frequency calibration algorithm of the SAR assisted FLL

frequency calibration cycle; 2) a SAR-assisted FLL is implemented by utilizing a RF/4 frequency ring oscillator (RO) with 4X phases; and 3) a switch-capacitor digital PA (SCDPA) is optimized for high efficiency below -5dBm. Figure 2-14 shows the proposed operation scheme and the TX architecture. After being woken up from sleep and configured, the TX will enter a frequency calibration state and the RO will be locked to 600.5MHz within 17µs for initial calibration. Once initially locked, the FLL can re-lock within 5µs using an abbreviated SAR loop. By using a SAR-assisted FLL controller, the exact value of phase error is no longer needed, so the feedback scheme is simplified as long as the sign of phase error is clear. Only the fine tune DAC is re-calibrated in a normal TX cycle after the initial calibration loop has run once, while other DACs are loaded with the previous registered value, achieving a 5µs settling time. However, if during any TX cycle when the fine tune DAC exceeds its boundary, as shown in Figure 2-15, the whole DAC bank will be reset and re-calibrated, resulting in a 23µs settling time.



Figure 2-16 simulated frequency vs time of the FLL



Figure 2-17. Measured transmission of one packet event

The simulated frequency change of the SAR assisted FLL is shown in Figure 2-16. The FLL locks in 17 μ s after reset as the initial calibration. Figure 2-18 shows the transmitted data packet and the output spectrum at 2.41GHz. The TX active power at different states are also shown. During the TX configuration state (including data loading from a SPI master), the active power is 634 μ W and during the packet transmission state, the total active power is 1.05 mW. During sleep, the SPI is powered off and all other blocks are power gated, giving a 160nW sleep power. The average power consumption of the whole TX, based on a 1s interval between 2 beacon events, is 433nW. The die photo of the test chip is shown in Figure 2-18



Figure 2-18 Die photo of the proposed FSK transmitter

2.7.2. AWG and VSG for low PN case

An Arbitrary waveform generator (AWG) and a vector signal generator (VSG) are used to generate FSK signals with good phase noise performance to verify the accuracy of the system model. Figure 2-21 shows the influence of both FSK FD and DR on the phase noise requirement. As can be seen for both cases, for a large range of phase noise levels, when FD is doubled, the phase noise requirement can be relaxed by 6dB. But for the influence of data rate, when phase noise is good, doubling DR will require more than a 3dB phase noise improvement. This can be explained by white noise falling into the bandwidth of the baseband filter when the PN is low, which will affect Eb/No, and a 3dB improvement in PN isn't enough to counter the loss of the bit energy. This also agrees with [4].



Figure 2-19 Measurement setup for low PN case

For the measurements of the low PN case, an AWG and VSG are used to generate the noisy FSK signal in RF and a mixed domain scope is used to capture the data for demodulation. The phase noise in simulation is set to the same level and noise shape but with the noise floor raised up to -110dBm. Since the PN of a VSG is too good and not tunable, extremely narrow FSK deviations are used to test the model. For the high phase noise case, the chip with a free running RO, which has a PN of -78dBc/Hz @ 1MHz offset, is tested, and compared to simulated results based on a free run RO phase noise shaping. The FD of the RO is fixed at 390 kHz. Decent agreement between simulation and measurement is achieved; measured (top left in black) and modeled (top right in blue) frequency vs time signals at the 2 different PN levels are also shown for visual comparison.



Figure 2-20 FSK FD & DR influence to PN and comparison between simulated and measured results (a) Low phase noise case, and (b) high phase noise case

CHAPTER 3

All digital frequency synthesizer design and modeling in FSK radios

The RF frequency synthesizer is one of the most important and complicated subsystems in a wireless transceiver, and phase locked loops (PLL) are one of the most widely used architectures in frequency synthesizer designs. Numerous researches in PLL architecture and its sub-circuit blocks [27-42] have been done from different perspectives to enhance its performance and reduce its power. In FSK radios, PLL design is even more critical as it not only directly impacts the system performance in modulation and interference due to phase noise, but also often takes up to 50%-70% of the total power budget. Thus, based on the PN analysis in Chapter 2 from the transceiver level down to its PLL sub-system, it is beneficial to further explore the phase noise relationship between the PLL and its critical sub-circuit blocks as well as noise contributions from each block. Linking the specifications based on noise from the RF transceiver to the PLL sub-system, and further down to the cell level circuit blocks would be extremely helpful to circuit designers in architecture selection, circuit design and overall planning.

3.1. ADPLL architectures for wireless communication

The trend of using all-digital PLLs (ADPLL) in RF wireless communications started roughly a decade ago [43, 44]. The adoption of digital PLLs in clock generation for microprocessors and DSPs, and clock data recovery circuits in wireline communications has become dominant as well due to its scalability with technology nodes. The bulky loop filter in analog PLLs costs too much area in state-of-the-art designs without offering superior performance. So in this thesis, I will focus on divider-less all-digital frequency synthesizer design and modeling in FSK radios.

There are generally 3 kinds of architectures used in digital frequency synthesizers adopted in wireless communications: ADPLL [43], multiplying delay locked loop (MDLL) [35]/injection locking clock multiplier (ILCM) [45], and digital sub-sampling PLL (SSPLL) [40, 75]. Among them, the ADPLL is the most traditional design that is still widely used in a lot of low power applications such as BLE and WiFi. The MDLL and ILCM are similar architectures that rely on edge replacement from a clean reference phase, thus achieving exceptional PN. But their performance is mainly determined by the reference quality and multiplication ratio, thus it is generally used in digital clocking generation and has gained more popularity recently in high frequency generation for 5G applications [45]. The SSPLL [46-48] replaces the traditional phase detector with a sub-sampling phase detector to sample the time difference as a voltage difference, which successfully removes the divider in the loop and enhances the in-band PN performance. Its digital version uses an ADC as the phase detector for voltage sampling [40].

Due to the edge realigned nature in the MDLL/ILCM, the output phase noise is only determined by the reference noise, VCO noise and locking bandwidth. The locking bandwidth is mainly determined by how frequently the edge is replaced in the MDLL or how strong the injection signal is in the ILCM [49]. It usually possesses a better in-band PN compared to ADPLLs as long as the locking bandwidth is larger. The SSPLL, on the other hand, also possesses superior in-band PN compared to a divider based ADPLL as

there is no noise up-conversion in the divider. However, both the MDLL/ILCM and the SSPLL need the initial frequency to be accurate beforehand, thus, they normally need extra frequency locking loops for pre-locking calibration, which makes them less efficient in low power designs. A divider-less ADPLL on the other hand, as shown in Figure 3-1, possesses no phase detector and no divider noise up-conversion as well, making it an ideal choice for ultra-low power FSK radio designs. The following chapter will be focusing on the noise analysis of the divider-less ADPLL.



Figure 3-1 simplified block diagram of the divider-less ADPLL and its working principle

The working principle for the divider-less ADPLL is shown in Figure 3-1. Reference phase is accumulated every reference cycle and is multiplied by the frequency control word (FCW), which is set to the equivalent divide ratio in divider-based architectures. A counter accumulates the integer value of the VCO phase every VCO cycle and a TDC is used to sample the fractional value at the same time. Phase error is then calculated based on the difference between accumulated reference phase and VCO phase, and then fed into a digital loop filter. Thus, instead of dividing down the VCO phase for phase comparison, this design virtually multiplies the reference phase by N, so the noise from the TDC won't be up-converted and the in-band PN is enhanced. Reference noise, on the other hand, would still be up-converted at the PLL output.



Figure 3-2 Noise model of a type I divider-less ADPLL

Figure 3-2 shows the phase domain model of a type-I divider-less ADPLL with its major noise sources, including reference noise, TDC noise, DAC noise, and oscillator noise. The open loop transfer function can be written as:

$$H(s) = \frac{1}{2\pi}A * \frac{2\pi K_v}{s} = \frac{AK_v}{s}$$
(3-1)

Thus the closed loop transfer function is:

$$STF(s) = \frac{H(s)}{1+H(s)} = \frac{AK_v}{s+AK_v}$$
(4-2)

Showing a low pass filtering response. The noise from the reference, TDC and DAC are all low pass filtered. On the other hand, the DCO noise is high pass filtered by the following transfer function:

$$NTF(s) = \frac{1}{1 + H(s)} = \frac{s}{s + AK_{\nu}}$$
(4 - 3)

The overall output phase noise is given by:

$$S_{\phi out} = N^2 STF^2 S_{\phi REF} + STF^2 S_{\phi TDC} + \frac{1}{A^2} STF^2 S_{\phi DAC} + NTF^2 S_{\phi DCO} \quad (4-4)$$

Where $S_{\phi out}$, $S_{\phi REF}$, $S_{\phi TDC}$, $S_{\phi DAC}$, $S_{\phi DCO}$ represent the phase noise spectra of the output, reference, TDC, DAC, and the DCO, respectively.

From the phase noise's perspective, the design of the PLL balances different noise sources with the corresponding transfer functions and optimizes for the best noise performance. Within the PLL bandwidth, the in-band PN is determined by the TDC noise floor, DAC noise floor and the high pass filtered DCO noise. Outside the PLL bandwidth, the PN is determined by the DCO noise alone (delta-sigma modulation noise is not considered here). Reference noise will affect the close-in PN at small frequency offset from the carrier (generally smaller than several kHz). As the TDC and DAC noise floor are determined by their own resolution, an in-band PN specification would be enough to determine their design requirements. And the spot phase noise outside the PLL bandwidth can be used to determine the DCO design as well.

3.2. TDC characterization

In open loop operation, the TDC noise floor is from the TDC quantization. Assume the TDC resolution is Δt_{res} , and this quantization noise is uniformly distributed, thus the variance of the timing uncertainty is:

$$\sigma_t^2 = \frac{\Delta t_{\rm res}^2}{12} \tag{4-5}$$

The standard deviation of introduced phase error is:

$$\sigma_{\phi} = 2\pi \frac{\sigma_{t}}{T_{V}} \tag{4-6}$$

Where T_V is the period of the VCO. The phase noise floor of the TDC quantization is:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{TDC}} = \frac{(2\pi)^2}{T_v^2} \left(\frac{t_{res}^2}{12}\right) \frac{1}{f_{REF}}$$
(4 - 7)

As a special case for the embedded TDC, which are widely used in low power ADPLL designs because it saves the power by not requiring an extra delay line and the delay normalization circuit, equation (4-7) can be simplified as:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{TDC}} = \frac{(2\pi)^2}{12} \left(\frac{1}{2^N}\right) \frac{1}{f_{REF}}$$
(4 - 8)

Where N is the number of bits of the TDC. Therefore, with a specific reference frequency, the TDC number of bits can be directly determined by the in-band PN specification. Figure 3-3 shows the filtered TDC noise floor with different resolutions.

The above analysis is the ideal case for the TDC noise floor. In practice, mismatch exists in the TDC delays between each stage. The mismatch due to layout is unavoidable and in the general cases, we can assume it as uniformly distributed. The TDC noise floor including mismatch is thus shown as follows:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{TDC}} = \frac{(2\pi)^2}{T_v^2} \left(\frac{t_{res}^2}{12} + \frac{\Delta_M^2}{3} \right) \frac{1}{f_{REF}}$$
(4 - 9)

Where Δ_M is the mismatch offset from its average stage delay value. In embedded TDC designs, the TDC delay of each stage also suffers from the ring oscillator jitter, so the TDC noise floor will be raised further as a result of this. Since the RO jitter is normally distributed, the TDC noise floor, including oscillator jitter, can be rewritten as:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{TDC}} = \frac{(2\pi)^2}{T_v^2} \left(\frac{t_{res}^2}{12} + \frac{\Delta_M^2}{3} + \frac{2}{\pi} \sigma_\tau^2 \right) \frac{1}{f_{REF}}$$
(4 - 10)

Where σ_{τ} is the rms jitter of the RO. Figure 3-3 shows a 7-bit embedded TDC noise floor with and without the effects of mismatch and jitter.



Figure 3-3 TDC noise floor with different TDC bits and non-idealities

3.3. DAC characterization



Figure 3-4 DAC quantization noise modeling

The DAC in the PLL offers a similar noise floor as the TDC, as it adds quantization noise in the digital control of the DCO tuning. But its noise's impact in the total in-band PN is relatively small compared to the TDC, since after noise filtering, the noise floor level is brought down by the loop filter. In a type I PLL, the noise floor is reduced by $20 \log_{10} A$ according to equation (4-4). Its tuning LSB is related to the frequency resolution of the DCO, so its noise effect can be converted into the quantization effect in frequency domain. Assume the frequency resolution due to the DAC is Δf_{res} , thus the quantization noise variance is

$$\sigma_{\Delta f}^2 = \frac{\Delta f_{res}^2}{12} \tag{4-11}$$

Thus, according to the closed loop transfer function for the DAC as shown in Figure 3-3, the DAC noise floor is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{DAC}} = \frac{(2\pi)^2}{12} \left(\frac{\Delta f_{res}^2}{A^2 K_v^2} \right) \frac{1}{f_{REF}}$$
(4 - 12)

Considering the mismatch effect in the DAC design, similar to the TDC analysis, the DAC noise floor is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{DAC}} = \frac{(2\pi)^2}{A^2 K_v^2} \left(\frac{\Delta f_{res}^2}{12} + \frac{\Delta_M^2}{3} \right) \frac{1}{f_{REF}}$$
(4 - 13)

Since the DAC value holds constant during each reference cycle, equations (4-12,13) need to by multiplied by the sinc function corresponding to the Fourier transform of the zerohold operation [43], thus (4-12,13) can be rewritten as:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{DAC}} = \frac{(2\pi)^2}{12} \left(\frac{\Delta f_{res}^2}{A^2 K_v^2} \right) \frac{1}{f_{REF}} \left(\operatorname{sinc}\left(\frac{\Delta f}{f_{REF}} \right) \right)^2 \tag{4-14}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{DAC}} = \frac{(2\pi)^2}{A^2 K_v^2} \left(\frac{\Delta f_{res}^2}{12} + \frac{\Delta_M^2}{3} \right) \frac{1}{f_{REF}} \left(sinc(\frac{\Delta f}{f_{REF}}) \right)^2$$
(4 - 15)

Figure 3-5 shows the DAC noise floor with different frequency resolutions assuming a 32MHz reference clock.

In most cases for wireless communications, the DAC tuning resolution is related to the frequency tuning resolution. It is usually the modulation requirement in FSK radios that sets the DAC tuning LSB, and the resulting DAC noise floor is much lower compared to the TDC noise floor (such as in BLE).



Figure 3-5 DAC noise floor with different frequency resolution

3.4. DCO choices

From the above analysis, the in-band PN defines the specifications of the TDC and DAC. Spot PN specifications from Chapter 2 can be directly used to define the oscillator design in a PLL. There have been numerous researches conducted on oscillators including phase noise, jitter analysis [18, 50-52], and design methodologies [53-55], etc. This section will only roughly talk about circuit choices according to design requirement for a given

FSK application. Figure 3-6 shows the power and phase noise comparison between LCVCOs and ROs based on a 40nm CMOS technology.



Figure 3-6 power vs phase noise between LCVCO and RO

LCVCOs, due to their inherent advantage in phase noise, are used in most of the standard compliant wireless transceivers. However, their minimum power consumption of >400 μ W is strictly limited by the quality factor of the integrated LC tank. In state-of-the-art processes, the quality factor of on-chip inductors is < 20, making it impossible to reduce the power consumption any further, no matter the performance, or the oscillation will not be sustained. On the other hand, ROs have the advantage of being able to trade off power for PN and they can further benefit from technology scaling. Recent publications show that ring oscillators can be successfully used in BLE designs with the lowest reported power and area [13]. Moreover, ROs can also be synthesized as all other blocks mentioned in previous sessions using current digital tools, making it possible to synthesize the whole

transmitter with an all-digital class-D power amplifier based on the specification links derived from transceiver level down to circuit blocks.

3.5. Reference noise's influence

In PLL designs, clock references are always treated as ideal sources and the reference noise is always ignored with decent divide ratios. This is because in typical PLL designs, crystal oscillators can offer excellent phase noise across the band and will be low pass filtered at the PLL bandwidth, making it negligible outside the PLL band. Even though the up-converted reference PN will eventually dominate the in-band PN at very small frequency offset, its PN level is still much lower compared to a free running VCO. However, since the reference noise up-conversion is unavoidable in either divider-based or divider-less PLLs and is scaled by the frequency multiplication ratio, as shown in Figure 3-7, it is still necessary characterize its influence in PN and IFV discussed in chapter 2.

As shown in Figure 3-7, with different divider ratio N, the reference noise is moved up by $20 \log_{10} N$. Increasing N or using a high noise reference will increase the total noise even though other noise sources are properly regulated by the PLL. When the up-converted reference noise is still smaller than the free running VCO noise, the IFV can be considered as:

$$\sigma_f^2 < 4BW_{rx}\mathcal{L}_{VCO}(f)f^2 \tag{3-16}$$

And when it exceeded the VCO noise, the IFV is thus:

$$\sigma_f^2 = 4BW_{rx}\mathcal{L}_{REF}(f)f^2N^2 \tag{3-17}$$



Figure 3-7 Reference noise's influence in total output PN

In PLL designs with proper reference, it is not likely to have the reference noise dominate the total output PN. However, crystal-less (XO-less) designs have been becoming desirable in a lot of standard compliant radio designs to further reduce the cost of wireless IoT product, by using an carefully calibrated LCVCO as the RF LO [14, 38]. They either use a kHz real time clock (RTC) or a relatively high frequency relaxation oscillator as the reference for RF frequency calibration, which will unavoidably result in a high PN up-converted reference because of the large N or noisy reference.

CHAPTER 4

An Ultra-Low Power Bluetooth Low-Energy Transmitter with Ring Oscillator Based ADPLL and 4X Frequency Edge Combiner

4.1. Introduction

Because of its versatility and practicality, Bluetooth Low-Energy (BLE) is becoming more popular as the wireless communication protocol for Internet-of-Things (IoT) applications [56-66]. The recently finalized Bluetooth 5.0 standard enables a faster data rate, more versatile advertising channel interactions, and an extended communication range [12], which makes BLE radios more adaptive in IoT designs. However, state-of-the-art BLE designs still consume an average of 4-5mW active power [56-61] while commercial BLE SoCs consume more than 10mW, limiting battery life and placing a ceiling on their adoption into IoT devices. In applications that require extended battery life or self-powered operation via energy harvesting such as wireless body sensor networks (WBSN), implantable medical devices, and disposable consumer electronics, BLE radios consume too much power to be adopted at a large scale. In such systems, ultra-low-power (ULP) radios with proprietary asymmetric communication protocols are used [67-70] to save power in the edge nodes while pushing all the computation and power into the base station. But these designs either suffer from a significantly lower data rate, more severe interference and multiple access issues, or an extra bulky aggregator. Thus, it's very beneficial to explore a way to further reduce the BLE radio's power consumption,

especially the BLE transmitter (TX), and enable a standard compatible asymmetrical communication with a sub-mW BLE TX in the edge-nodes and fully compliant BLE transceivers in a cellphone or tablet as the base station. It will not only save a significant amount of power and extend the lifetime of IoT SoCs, but could also help resolve the interference and base station issues in ULP wireless systems.



Figure 4-1 Block diagram of the proposed RO-based all-digital BLE transmitter

The bottleneck of further power reduction in BLE TX design mainly results from 2 building blocks: the local oscillator (LO) and the power amplifier (PA), which typically take more than 80% of the TX power consumption combined. Significant effort has been spent on the phase-locked loop (PLL) design for BLE [71-74]. Some state-of-the-art ADPLL designs have successfully broke through the 1mW barrier [72, 73]. But due to the use of LC voltage-controlled oscillators (LCVCO) which are implemented with on chip inductor whose quality factors are <20, power cannot be reduced further, no matter the performance, because oscillation cannot be sustained. A recent trend shows that more and more BLE designs prefer to use open-loop LCVCO designs with direct modulation [59,

65], since its phase noise (PN) performance is more than enough for BLE. In normal cases, the LO PN requirement for a BLE TRX is determined by the receiver (RX) side due to the requirements in RX sensitivity, blockers, and reciprocal mixing, and it's always better to have a better PN. But for a BLE TX-only prioritized design, the PN limit for the LO has not been studied. This is especially true if this TX is in an asymmetric network where the RX LO in the "base-station" is often overprovisioned with high PN tolerance.

This chapter will address this issue by giving a detailed analysis between phase noise and system level specifications for a transmitter, using a similar method as in [18, 22]. The relaxed PN limit for BLE TX will not only help bring down the TX power consumption to its physical limit, but also increases flexibility in BLE circuit design based on the application emphasis. Based on the analysis, we propose the first-ever reported RO-based BLE TX [24] with a ULP wideband type I ADPLL using a 32-phase $f_{RF}/4$ RO, which not only forms a 5-bit embedded TDC but also serves as a 4X frequency edge combiner. It reduces the PLL power and improves its PN at the same time. To further reduce PA power consumption, we utilize a switch-capacitor digital PA (SCDPA) [81] with a matching network optimized for low power operation achieving a high efficiency. The BLE TX consumes 486 μ W while configured as a non-connectable advertiser, which is desirable for short-range TX-only beacon devices in an asymmetric BLE network. Its functionality has been validated by wirelessly communicating beacon messages to a mobile phone.

This chapter is an extension of [13], and is organized as follows. Section 4.2 discusses the system level design considerations. Section 4.3 talks about detailed circuit design and trade-offs to achieve low power and the required noise performance. Section 4.4 discusses the measurement results and the comparison to the state-of-the-art. Finally, Section 4.5 draws the conclusion.



Figure 4-2 Simplified block diagram of different ADPLL architectures: (a) Divider based ADPLL with TDC as the PD. (b) Divider-less ADPLL with TDC. (c) Divider-less ADPLL with embedded TDC. (d) Proposed ADPLL with quarter frequency OSC and 4X edge combiner

4.2. System level analysis for the proposed RO based BLE TX

4.2.1. Proposed ADPLL architecture

In order to achieve the target PN using a noisy RO rather than the generally used LCVCO, the PLL design for the BLE transmitter is critical. Even though the major noise source is the VCO PN, other building blocks also need to be carefully dealt with, especially for low power designs. Figure 4-2 shows 4 different architectures of the TDC based ADPLLs. The divider based ADPLL [76] shown in Figure 4-2(a) needs a relatively high power divider and suffers from divider noise folding as well as reference noise up-conversion. For fractional operation, an extra Delta-Sigma Modulator (DSM) is needed for the divider. Thus, this is a relatively a power hungry choice. The divider-less ADPLL [77]

shown in Figure 4-2(b) directly uses a TDC to generate the fractional error. This architecture effectively removes the noise contributed from the divider and the DSM, but a TDC running at RF frequency consumes a significant amount of power as well, let alone an extra normalization circuit. Advanced designs [71, 72] in this architecture effectively reduce the TDC power consumption while maintain an excellent noise performance by introducing a DTC and snapshot circuit, but the timing misalignment and non-linearity of the DTC and TDC will introduce spurs. The pre-calibration circuit will result in extra power consumption, thus, making it hard for further power reduction. As for the architecture shown in Figure 4-2(c) with an embedded TDC [78], the power is saved by removing the explicit TDC and the normalization circuit. However, the TDC resolution is limited by the number of RO stages at high frequency, which will result in a relatively high in-band phase noise for high frequency applications.

Figure 4-2(d) shows the simplified block diagram of the proposed ADPLL to address the above issues. The detailed block diagram is already shown in Figure 4-1. To achieve the targeted frequency variation error with the RO, a 5MHz bandwidth ADPLL for aggressive in-band phase noise suppression is implemented. It features a fast settling time and direct reference phase modulation at the frequency control word (FCW) since the PLL BW is much larger than the modulation BW. The BW is programmable by changing the loop filter gain through a SPI interface, as shown in Figure 4-1. Several techniques are used to save the PLL power and enhance its in-band PN at the same time. The RO is designed at a frequency of $\frac{f_{RF}}{4}$ and implemented with a 16-stage pseudo-differential architecture with 32 phases directly used as an embedded TDC. Its phases are also used in a windowed edge combiner (EC) for 4X frequency multiplication to produce the 2.4GHz RF frequency. The lower frequency RO further saves the power of the embedded TDC. It prevents the noise folding effect from happening in the divider based PLL, thus improving in-band PN performance. At the same time, the high power explicit TDC and its delay normalization circuits are also saved, and the TDC performance can be relaxed by dealing with the same amount of jitter at a lower frequency while maintaining the same resolution. The low frequency embedded TDC and the extra edge combiner consumes less power compared to the normal frequency embedded TDC design from simulation , and it can maintain the low flicker noise corner from the low frequency RO, which will again, enhance the in-band phase noise [79]. However, extra deterministic jitter will be introduced because of the mismatches in the different paths of the EC, as modeled in Figure 4-3. And due to periodical phase shifts, the EC will also introduce spurs at $\pm f_{RF}/4$ off the center frequency. Its negative effect will be analyzed in more detail in B.



Figure 4-3 System level noise analysis with different noise sources including reference noise,

TDC noise, DAC noise, VCO noise and EC noise.

4.2.2. Noise analysis with the edge combiner and the quarter RF frequency embedded TDC

Major noise sources are modelled for the PLL, as shown in Figure 4, including reference noise, TDC noise, DAC noise and RO phase noise. The PLL is designed to achieve a 5MHz BW with a -85dBc/Hz in-band PN after edge combining. In this design, the in-band PN is dominated by both the RO and TDC. The TDC noise floor is around - 100dBc/Hz with the 5-bit resolution at quarter RF frequency, which is comparable to the in-band PN of the quarter frequency RO, as shown in Figure 4-4. Ideally, the relative noise floor difference between RO and TDC are the same with or without the quadruple effect. However, since the absolute delay offset due to layout mismatch, loading variation and RO jitter are the same, the actual TDC noise floor is slightly enhanced in the quarter frequency RO architecture due to the larger VCO period:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{TDC}} = \frac{(2\pi)^2}{T_v^2} \left(\frac{t_{res}^2}{12} + \frac{\Delta_M^2}{3} + \frac{2}{\pi}\sigma_\tau^2\right) \frac{1}{f_{REF}}$$
(4 - 1)

Where t_{res} and T_v is the TDC delay and the VCO period, and Δ_M correspond to the average mismatch. Here the mismatch is assumed as uniformly distributed. And for the embedded TDC, the jitter on the TDC edges follows the Gaussian distribution of the RO output. Since the delay, jitter and average mismatch are not correlated, the actual TDC noise floor with and without quarter frequency multiplication are shown in Figure 5 (a), assuming a 10ps rms jitter for the RO at 2.4GHz. And after frequency multiplication, the in-band PN at 2.4GHz output is slightly improved compared to a normal frequency embedded TDC as a reference (edge combined PN vs 2.4G RO w/ 3b-TDC PN). The DAC resolution is restricted by the modulation, thus, the DAC noise floor is pretty low. And

because of the divider-less nature of this design, its noise won't be up-converted as a problem.

The edge combiner, due to loading mismatch, will add a certain delay 'D' for each path. Thus the variance of the timing uncertainty from one path is:

$$\sigma_{\tau_{\rm EC}} = \frac{(D)^2}{12}$$
 (4 - 2)

In the worst case, there will be 3 phases with positive delay and 1 phase with negative delay, or vice versa. Thus the worst case delay is 3D in (16). The phase uncertainty is:

$$\sigma_{\Phi_{\rm EC}} = \frac{2\pi\sigma_{\tau_{EC}}}{T_{\nu}} \tag{4-3}$$

So the worst case phase noise introduced by the EC is:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EC} = \frac{(2\pi)^2}{12} \frac{(3D)^2}{T_v^2} \frac{1}{f_V} \tag{4-4}$$

It shows that the EC will add an extra non-filtered noise floor in the overall PN output due to the path delay from layout mismatch. But in practice its level is relatively low compared to other noise sources unless the farout PN is of concern. Monte Carlo simulations for the EC show that the average delay offset is around 1.5 ps, and 1.7ps calculated from indirect open loop PN measurement, which translates into an EC added noise floor of around - 125dBc/Hz. Thus the EC noise basically doesn't contribute to the in-band PN. The far out phase noise floor discrepancies between simulated and measurement result shown in Figure 4-5 & (c) are mainly due to the instrumental noise.

From a time domain perspective, the EC-introduced jitter is much smaller than, and not correlated with, the random jitter from the high-PN RO. The windowed EC won't affect the overall RF performance in the random noise region. In this design, in order to balance the phases offset and improve the EC spur performance, dummies are added to each RO

phase output and the layout of the RO has been carefully designed with symmetry. Furthermore, extra loadings were added to each phase output after PEX extraction. Figure 4-5 shows the simulated PLL noise performance versus the model from the above analysis and Figure 4-6 shows the measured PN of the proposed ADPLL. The phase noise performance corresponds to a 68.1kHz $3\sigma_f$ IFV, which is close to the target design. The spur level is equal to $20\log(\Delta t/T_v)$ according to [80, 83], where Δt is the average delay mismatch associated with each combined output phase, so it can be estimated that the typical spur level is around -49dBc according to simulation. With this $f_{RF}/4$ RO and edge combiner architecture as well as the 5b embedded TDC, the PLL controller's power consumption is 253μ W in a 40nm technology.



Modeled PN for The proposed ADPLL with EC

Figure 4-4 Noise performance of the proposed ADPL – Modeled different phase noise sources.



Figure 4-5 Noise performance of the proposed ADPLL – Simulated vs Modeled total phase noise.



Measured PN for the proposed ADPLL after EC

Figure 4-6 Noise performance of the proposed ADPLL – Measured phase noise with

corresponding IFV

4.3. Circuit implementation

4.3.1. Ring oscillator



Figure 4-7. Proposed 16-stage pseudo-differential ring oscillator block and the RO delay cell with buffers

The detailed circuit design of the 16-stage pseudo-differential RO is shown in Figure 4-7. All the 32 phases are buffered out and directly sampled by 32 D flip-flops at the reference clock as an embedded TDC [78] without extra delay lines. Then the 32b outputs are encoded to form a 5b binary output as a fractional phase error sampler. One phase output is sent to the counter for integer phase error calculation, while the rest phases are

connected to dummies for a balanced output to minimize the TDC DNL. On the other hand, all phases are also buffered out to an edge selection circuit, where 24 of them are arranged and fed to the edge combiner while the other 8 phases are connected to dummies too. The RO cell is implemented with 2 inverter stages for each cell and NMOS-only cross couple pairs rather than cross coupled inverters for minimized loading. And each cell has 6 buffered outputs for TDC, EC and counter (or dummies). This helps achieve the best balance among speed, PN and power efficiency for the RO.

4.3.2. Current steering DAC

The current steering DAC for digital RO tuning is shown in Figure 4-8. The DAC is one of the most important circuit blocks for the PLL noise performance since supply and bias noise are critical to ring oscillator based designs. Since the PLL BW is very large for in-band PN suppression and direct reference phase modulation, the decap on the virtual VDD of the RO has to be fairly small to keep the PLL loop stable, thus plenty of noise from the supply and the bias network will pass through. To deal with this, the coarse DAC bank is designed at the edge of the triode region to minimize the noise gain while the medium and fine DAC banks are designed in the saturation region to keep the required tuning linearity while the PLL is locked. Additional large decaps are added to the gate of the DAC cells to filter the accumulated supply and bias noise. The medium and fine current steering DACs are 6b each that covers 70MHz range with approximately 20kHz LSB tuning step for the RO and the coarse DAC is 4b and can cover up to 300MHz.



Figure 4-8 Current steering DAC for RO tuning and its major noise contributions

4.3.3. Edge combiner

Figure 8 shows the windowed edge combiner. In the 24 phases of the RO input, 6 phases are used for each rising and falling edge to be combined, in which the 2 windows are spaced by 4 RO delays and the window width is 5 delays to ensure all selected phases pass through in different PVT corners. Tristate gates are used to pass the selected phase and buffer the interference from other phases. The timing diagram for edge combining is shown in Figure 4-9. In this design, the EC consumes just 20μ W from simulation and its added jitter is much smaller than the RO jitter itself, keeping the RF output in the random noise region. In applications where the EC jitter is comparable to the oscillator jitter, then it cannot be treated as working in the random noise region for frequency multiplication. Power has to be traded off for mismatch in the EC circuit design according to system requirement.



Figure 4-9 Schematic of the edge combiner block and its working principle

4.3.4. Switched capacitor digital power amplifier

A class-D switch-capacitor digital power amplifier [81] is utilized in this design due to its robustness, low cost and great performance in efficiency. Compared to other switching power amplifiers, even though the class-D does not possess the highest efficiency, it is more robust and less susceptible to driving transistor parasitics, PVT variations and matching. And with the supply sensitive ring oscillator implementation in the LO, class D is more reliable due to its relatively low output swing. As there is no on-chip resonant component, it is more suitable for low cost fully integrated solutions and can benefit from advances in technology scaling with better switches. The efficiency of this kind of PA is related to the ratio of the loading impedance and on-resistance of the driving transistor
minus the power of the harmonics, thus, it is more versatile in matching schemes to achieve the highest efficiency at a targeted output power based on application emphasis. For example, higher loading impedance results in a low maximum output power but helps with efficiency in low output power levels. Different from the typical SCDPA design [81], where series capacitors are within each PA cell, this design utilizes a shared capacitor bank to prevent extra output power loss due to the grounded capacitors in the off PA cells. As shown in Figure 4-10, the SCDPA is thermometer coded with 8-bit cells and is matched and optimized for the highest efficiency for -10dBm operation, which is sufficient for 2-3 meters short range communication.



Figure 4-10 Programmable switch-capacitor digital power amplifier and schematic of the PA cell

4.4. Measurement results

The proposed BLE transmitter is fabricated in 40nm CMOS and the die photo of the prototype chip is shown in Figure 4-11. The core area of the TX is 0.0166mm2. The

measurement results are shown as follows. Figure 4-12 shows the measurement of the open loop (a) and closed loop (b) phase noise performance of the proposed ADPLL. When the RO is free running at 494MHz, the PN @ 1MHz offset is -95dBc/Hz and the EC output at around 2GHz is -83dBc/Hz, with the noise corner both at around 1MHz. The PN of the ADPLL is shown in (b). It's locked at 600.5MHz with a 37.5MHz reference. The PLL bandwidth is around 5MHz and the measured in-band PN of the oscillator and the EC output at 2.402GHz are -96dBc/Hz and -85dBc/Hz, respectively.



Figure 4-11 Die photo of the proposed BLE transmitter



Figure 4-12 Measured phase noise comparison: (a) Free running RO compared to the RF output. (b) Closed loop RO compared to the RF output

The PLL outputs are directly measured at 600MHz shown in Figure 4-13. The reference spur is -55dBc and the fractional spur is -42.3dBc, as shown in Figure 4-13 (a) and (b), respectively. As can be seen from the frequency vs time diagram in Figure 4-14, due to the large bandwidth, the PLL locks within 400ns after reset from a 70MHz initial frequency offset.



Figure 4-13 Measured PLL spurious performance and locking transient performance: (a) Reference spur measurement (b) fractional spur measurement

Figure 4-15 shows the SCDPA measurement showing the PA efficiency vs output power at different supply voltages. Using a 0.6V power supply, the PA consumes 107μ W with a -19.2 dBm output power, yielding a 10.8% PA efficiency at the lower boundary of the BLE output power requirement. In its high-power mode with a 0.9V supply, it can deliver -3.3dBm while consuming 1.2mW with a 39% efficiency. The maximum efficiency of 41% is achieved at around -7.1dBm (@0.7V) output power with a 476 μ W PA power consumption. Due to the non-linear nature of the SCDPA, an external matching network is used to suppress TX harmonic emissions. And the measured harmonic performance is shown in Figure 4-18. With the off chip matching network, both HD2 and HD3 are smaller than -42dBm with a 1.2V PA power supply, which complies with BLE requirements.



Figure 4-14 Measured PLL locking time



Figure 4-15 PA efficiency versus output power with different power supplies

The TX spectrum is measured while transmitting a repeated BLE packet. The spectrum output is compared using a 0.6V supply between high power mode with all 8 PA cells are turned on and low power mode with only 1 PA cell is enabled. It can be seen in Figure 4-16 (a) that both cases meet the BLE spectrum mask. A comparison of FSK and GFSK at the PN limit region is shown in Figure 4-16(b), showing that when operating at the PN limit region, FSK and GFSK basically have the same spectrum efficiency. This simplification in modulation could potentially help reduce the power consumption even more for low power applications such as self-powered sensors with power consumption as the primary concern and the targeted communication range is within 2–3 meters. The measured frequency vs. time for part of the BLE packets are also shown in Figure 4-17. The eye-diagram is plotted from the captured frequency domain signal. The phase noise from the RO-based design does degrade the eye performance, but as designed, both the

symbol timing and 3σ IFV barely meet the BLE communication limit. The FSK error is 9.1% for this design, which can be expected from the 68 kHz frequency variation.



Figure 4-16 TX performance measurement: (a) Output spectrum in low-power and high-power mode. (b) Spectrum comparison of FSK and GFSK in the PN limit region.



Figure 4-17 Captured BLE packets and eye diagram

The power breakdown is shown in Figure 19. While working at the low power mode with a 37.5MHz off chip reference, the RO with the DAC bias network consumes $126 \,\mu W$, the PA consumes 107μ W and the PLL blocks with the edge combiner consumes 253μ W. In the highest power mode with 0.9V supply, the PA consumes 1.2mW. The all-digital RO based BLE TX consumes a total 486µW and 1.6mW in low-power and high-power mode. The comparison to the state-of-the-art is shown in Table I. As the first reported RO based BLE TX esign, it cherishes certain benefits compared to the LCVCO based designs. With the RO, the TX is able to work at the BLE PN limit without extra power-noise penalty. The LO block is able to achieve a power consumption of less than 400μ W combined. This helps to enhance the TX efficiency regardless of the PA design. The core area is also considerably small with the RO implementation and can benefit even more with technology scaling, reducing the cost for massive IoT production. Yet for practicality, it's still better to leave some extra margin for the RO design according to the theory analysis in session II, since from the PLL measurement result, it can be seen that the PLL is at the edge of being unstable and the IFV is also a bit higher than the 65kHz target.

LX/ RF 50Ω AC		SENSE:	NT	ALIGN AUTO	01:42:32 PM A	ug 23, 2018.
Marker 2 4.896000000000	GHz PNO: Fast IFGain:Low	Trig: Free Ru Atten: 20 dB	Avg In	Type: Log-Pwr	TRACE TYPE DET	123456 WWWWWW NNNNNN
10 dB/div Ref 10.00 dBm			Ci	nt2 4 897	623 471.6 -42.5	398 Hz 3 dBm
0.00 10.00 HD2 = -4	12.53dBn	n				
-20.0 HD3 = -4	18.50dBn	n				
-40.0	¢2			⊘ 3		
-50.0	يل الطعين وطقيل	وجر والقائلي المراداتي	والمالية والمرافقة	Haral and a start of the second se	عداقه على وطالعا ومن و	ر بيد انة استور
-70.0 -80.0	al o ballocations	ana para ka	, d _{ente} r de la _{la cele}	arthur arthur (ահերկիներովո	ումներեն
Start 2.000 GHz Stop 10.000 GHz #Res BW 8 MHz #VBW 3.0 MHz Sweep 13.33 ms (1001 pts)						
MKR MODE TRC SCL ×	.447 GHz	ү 0.03 dBm	FUNCTION	FUNCTION WIDTH	FUNCTION	VALUE
2 N 1 f 4 3 N 1 f 7 4 7	.896 GHz .344 GHz	-42.53 dBm -48.50 dBm				

Figure 4-18 TX harmonic measurement with external matching network

Figure 4-20 shows the wireless test setup. Here, the BLE TX is configured to transmit an iBeacon message, which is picked up by the iBeacon app, and shows the correct packet information.



Figure 4-19 TX power breakdown in low-power and high-power mode

Parto		•••∞ Verizon LTE 11:00	in < Beacon [no ≁ ≋ 44% <mark>=</mark> _> Details Log in	
Commercial		Detected devices:	Primary Packet Type >		
Beacon devices Battery	Transmitting	Dark purple $ ightarrow$ original	UUID B9407F30-F5F8-466E-AFF9-25556B57FE6D >		
		Light blue → our BLE TX	Major Received packet 825 >		
	packet as the		Minor	37810 >	
	device		Secure UUID	Off >	
	powered off		Motion UUID	>	
Both	The second second		Transmit Power (Tx)	>	
Received	- Annual		Advertising Interval	>	
hu nhana		Credits to	DEVICE DETAILS		
o by phone	R.	Estimote	Color	Icy Marshmallow	

Figure 4-20 Phone connectivity measurement setup for the proposed BLE TX

4.5. Conclusion

In this work, a theory analysis for BLE phase noise requirement has been studied. Instantaneous frequency variation of the local oscillator due to phase noise under different circumstances is used as the link between system level specifications in BLE transmitter to circuit level design choices for the LO. And a phase noise limit is derived as the design baseline too. To verify the analysis, an all-digital RO-based BLE TX is designed and measured. The key techniques to reduce the power consumption while maintaining the performance are: 1) a wideband all-digital phase-locked loop (ADPLL) featuring an quarter RF frequency RO, with an embedded 5-bit TDC; 2) a 4X frequency edge combiner to generate the 2.4GHz signal; 3) a switch-capacitor digital PA optimized for high efficiency at low transmit power levels. Measurement results show excellent agreement between theory analysis and circuit design, and proving RO is feasible for BLE TX design with low power.

The transmitter consumes 486μ W in low power mode while talking to a phone and is extremely low cost due to the implementation with RO. Moreover, because of the all-digital nature of this design, it can further benefit from technology scaling.

	This	work	JSSC15[1]	ISSCC15[2]	ISSCC15[3]	JSSC16[4]		ISSCC18[10]
Technology (nm)	40	0	55	40	40	28		28
LO Architecture	RO + ADPLL		LC + analog PLL	LC + ADPLL	LC + analog PLL	LC + ADPLL		LC + analog PLL
Supply voltage (v)	0.6-	0.9	0.9-3.3	1	1.1	0.4	5/1	0.2
PLL REF frequency (MHz)	37.5		16	32	32	5/40		1
PLL settling time (µs)	0.	4	15	15	N/A	14		N/A
PLL In-band PN (dBc/Hz)	-8	5	N/A	-90	N/A	-92/-101		-80
PLL FoM	-208	8.5	N/A	-220.9	N/A	-231.6		-227.2
Max output power (dBm)	@0.6V	@0.9V	0	-2/1	0	3		0
	-9.4	-3.3						
Max PA efficiency	419	%*	30%	25%	<30%	41%		32%
TX Power consumption	0.49mW	1.55mW	10.1mW	4.2mW	7.7mW	4.4mW	3.8mW**	4mW
	@-19dBm	@-3dBm	@0dBm	@-2dBm	@0dBm	@0dBm	@-3dBm	@0dBm
TX max efficiency	32% @	-3dBm	15%	10%	13%	36%		25%
Core Area (mm ²)	0.0166		0.6***	0.6***	0.6***	0.65		0.53
FSK error	9.1	%	N/A	4.8%	N/A	2.7%		2.2%
HD2 @ 0dBm	-42.5	5****	-49	-49	-52	-50		-49.6
# of ext. components	2		0	N/A	0	0		0

Table 1: Performance summary and comparison with the state-of-the-art

*With 0.7V PA power supply **Estimated from PA efficiency

Estimated from die photo for only TX *Measured with off chip matching network

CHAPTER 5

Phase Noise and Frequency Accuracy in Crystal-less Wireless Edge Nodes

This chapter presents a theory connecting phase noise and frequency accuracy in different time spans and explores the possibilities and limitations in crystal-less (XO-less) frequency calibration for wireless edge nodes from a noise perspective. N-period-average jitter is introduced as a link between spectral characterizations of phase noise and long term frequency stability normally evaluated by Allan Deviation. It is found that flicker noise coming from the reference in a frequency synthesizer is the dominant noise source to affect long term frequency accuracy. An average processing unit embedded in an ADPLL is proposed based on the N-period-average jitter concept to enhance frequency accuracy in the 'Calibrate and Open-loop' scenario. With this low cost block in ADPLL, the frequency calibration accuracy can be directly associated with the reference noise performance. Thus, the feasibility of an XO-less design with certain communication standard can be easily evaluated with the proposed theory. An XO-less BLE transmitter with a RF clock recovery receiver is presented in this chapter. While Chapter 2 focus more on the short term relationship among phase noise, jitter, and instantaneous frequency variation (IFV) from a wireless system's perspective, this chapter offers a more in-depth analysis of their relationship in a long term from a PLL designer's perspective.

5.1. Introduction

Throughout the past decade, numerous efforts have been put into low power and low cost wireless devices for ubiquitous inter-connected objects in the age of Internet of Things (IoT). However, in order to support billions to even trillions of connected devices, it still requires significant reduction in costs and form factor. External components, such as crystal oscillator (XO), matching network, and batteries always dominate the cost and size, as in [6], the XO and battery takes up to 2/3 of the whole prototype board of the miniaturized BLE transmitter even with the matching network removed from the design. Among all the external components, the XO is probably the most expensive (>\$1) and bulky component (5×5 mm2), and it is also the most difficult one to remove from the system as an accurate frequency reference in the range of tens of megahertz is normally necessary for the local oscillator (LO) in general RF frontends.

Recent research in crystal-less radios dates back more than a decade ago [4, 90, 91]. The majority of such designs are based on pulse modulations in wideband communications for the highest energy efficiency in the edge nodes. In the transmitter side, ring oscillators are widely used as the LO for its low power and large tuning range [5, 69, 90, 91], since the impact of either jitter or frequency drift due to phase noise in such communication schemes is insignificant [93]. The receivers in such systems, on the other hand, are generally realized with energy detection architecture without LO just for wakeup and power reduction in a bunch of proprietary protocols.

Meanwhile, there are also plenty of researches targeting removing the XO in standard compliant or compatible radio designs such as in BLE and IEEE 802.15.4 [98,99] as an open loop LC oscillator can offer enough phase noise performance as long as the frequency

is calibrated at the start of every packet transmission [6, 98]. In such systems where the RF oscillator's phase noise can easily satisfy the communication requirement, instead of locking all the time during RF transmission, the PLL's role can be shifted to a simpler 'calibration' scheme and the frequency reference can be different from a typical megahertz XO. In [97], the PLL is locked to the incoming RF signal at 2.4GHz through the receiver chain, and in [94, 95], the LOs are injection locked to the RF signal, whose outputs were further used for demodulation based on the injection locking or pulling conditions. In a recent ADPLL design for BLE of [98], the high frequency XO is replaced with a 32 kHz real time clock (RTC) simply for calibration purpose as well. Although 32 kHz RTCs are generally made with a low frequency XO, the removing of the high frequency one still results in a reduction of cost and power.

All these researches show the possibility of replacing the high frequency XO in certain applications with other frequency reference sources such as RF signal, low frequency reference and even noisy but well characterized reference such as a temperature compensated RC oscillator. However, it still lacks a comprehensive analysis in how phase noise in the reference will impact the short term and long term frequency accuracy in a 'Calibration and Open-loop' scheme incorporating all the reference cases mentioned above. The primary goal of this paper is to provide a fundamental analysis of reference noise's impact on frequency accuracy and offer a calibration method to deal with it inside a typical type I ADPLL.

Section 5-2 summarizes the relationship among phase noise, different types of jitter, and frequency accuracy based on previous publications [100-111] as well as the relevant analysis in chapter 2. Then the impact of LO's phase noise shaping on frequency accuracy in both short term and long term will be analyzed. Section 5-3 proposes an embedded digital filtering technique in the ADPLL loop filter targeted for the 'Calibration and Openloop' scheme that can further filter the excessive phase noise coming from a non-XO reference. The effectiveness of the filtering technique will be assessed based on different types of noise sources from the reference in section 5-4. An example associated with BLE will be shown 5-5. Finally, section 5-6 draws the conclusion.



Figure 5-1 Phase jitter, period jitter and cycle-to-cycle jitter relationship associated with phase errors over time

5.2. Phase Noise, Jitter, and Frequency Accuracy

5.2.1. Short term frequency accuracy related to PN and jitter

Phase noise (PN) has been evaluated and analyzed from various perspectives such as numerical methods, mathematical and physical understandings, circuit design considerations and system level requirements, to name a few. Designers from different areas always have different angles towards the same question, resulting in various interpretations. Wireless and RF circuit designers focus more on phase noise of the LO while wireline as well as the majority of digital and mixed signal circuit designers care more about jitter from the clock. On the other hand, interestingly enough, both system engineers making communication standards and circuit engineers designing clocking references, such as XO and relaxation oscillators, prefer to use frequency accuracy (such as Allan Deviation) as their benchmarking specifications. This makes the already difficult and somewhat obscure topic even harder to deal with as it requires a thorough understanding of PN from math and physics description, to system impacts and circuit implementation. In this session, we will review PN fundamentals and develop a simple yet still practical link among PN, jitter, and frequency accuracy for circuit designers using relatively simple mathematical descriptions.

Figure 5-1 shows the physical relationship among phase error, phase jitter $t_{ph}(k)$, period jitter $t_{pr}(k)$ and cycle-to-cycle jitter $t_{cyc}(k)$ corresponding to the kth cycle of the clock compared to an ideal clock. As can be seen in Figure 1, phase jitter is directly related to phase error (PE) over time, while period jitter is indirectly related to instantaneous frequency variations (IFV) as it is the differential value between consecutive phase jitters. Similarly, cycle-to-cycle jitter corresponds to error of the frequency change rate (EFCR), which can be quite useful in FMCW radars and spread spectrum clocks where the frequency is sawtooth or triangularly modulated. According to Wiener-Khintchin theorem assuming a stationary (at least almost stationary) process for the jitter, the relationship between phase noise and the jitters are:

$$\sigma_{\tau_{ph}}^2 = \frac{1}{2\pi^2 f_0^2} \int_0^\infty \mathcal{L}(f) df$$
 (5-1)

$$\sigma_{\tau_{pr}}^2 = \frac{2}{\pi^2 f_0^2} \int_0^\infty \mathcal{L}(f) \sin^2(\frac{\pi f}{f_0}) \, df \tag{5-2}$$

$$\sigma_{\tau_{cyc}}^2 = \frac{8}{\pi^2 f_0^2} \int_0^\infty \mathcal{L}(f) \sin^4(\frac{\pi f}{f_0}) \, df \tag{5-3}$$

Where $\mathcal{L}(f)$ is the PN PSD and $\sigma_{\tau_{ph}}, \sigma_{\tau_{pr}}$ and $\sigma_{\tau_{cyc}}$ are standard deviations of phase jitter, period jitter and cycle-to-cycle jitter, respectively. f_0 denotes the carrier frequency. Thus, the corresponding phase and frequency errors will be in a similar format but multiplied by f_0^4 , as already shown in [26, 111]. To our interest, the equation evolves IFV is listed below as the simple link between phase noise, jitter, and short term frequency accuracy:

$$\sigma_f^2 = f_0^4 \sigma_{\tau_{pr}}^2 = \frac{2f_0^2}{\pi^2} \int_0^\infty \mathcal{L}(f) \sin^2(\frac{\pi f}{f_0}) df$$
 (5-4)

5.2.2. N-period jitter, N-period-average jitter, and Allan Deviation

For the long term frequency accuracy, phase noise's impact is more subtle as reference clocks are measured over a long period of time and some of the noise components are averaged out. We start the analysis from N-period jitter, which is defined as the deviation between the phase jitter compared to its N-th previous value. As a random process, the variance of the N-period jitter can be related to the autocorrelation function of PE [26, 50]:

$$\sigma_{\tau_{\rm prN}}^2 = \frac{2}{\omega_0^2} \left[R_{\phi}(0) - R_{\phi}(NT) \right]$$
(5-5)

If we assume PE as a stationary process, as we did for eq. 2, the N-period jitter and PN's relation can be written as:

$$\sigma_{\tau_{pr}N}^2 = \frac{2}{\pi^2 f_0^2} \int_0^\infty \mathcal{L}(f) \sin^2\left(\frac{\pi f N}{f_0}\right) df \qquad (5-6)$$

We define the N-period average jitter as the average value of the N-period jitter over the number of periods:

$$\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{prAVE}} = \frac{\boldsymbol{t}_{\boldsymbol{prN}}}{N} \tag{5-7}$$

Which is still a jitter vector that can be related to frequency variations. This value is useful for the proposed frequency calibration technique for XO-less operations as will be discussed in session III. And it has a variance:

$$\sigma_{\tau_{pr}AVE}^{2} = \frac{2}{\pi^{2} f_{0}^{2} N^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathcal{L}(f) \sin^{2}\left(\frac{\pi f N}{f_{0}}\right) df \qquad (5-8)$$

Using a similar expression to (5-4) can give us the relation between PN, N-period average jitter and long term frequency accuracy, and it is written as:

$$\sigma_{f_{AV}}^2 = f_0^4 \sigma_{\tau_{prN}}^2 = \frac{2f_0^2}{\pi^2} \int_0^\infty \mathcal{L}(f) \sin^2\left(\frac{\pi f N}{f_0}\right) df$$
(5-9)

We could further derive the relation of PN to Allan Deviation using the same method. Similar to the N-period average jitter defined above, Allan Deviation (ADEV) uses an Nperiod average value over the total length of time as:

$$y = \frac{t_{prN}}{NT_0} \tag{5-10}$$

And the Allan deviation is thus defined as:

$$\sigma_{\Delta y}(NT) = \frac{1}{NT_0} \sqrt{\frac{E\left[\left(t_{prN}(k) - t_{prN}(k+N)\right)^2\right]}{2}}$$
(5 - 11)

Its relation to PN can be calculated using Wiener-Khintchin Theorem as:

$$\sigma_{\Delta y}^2(NT_0) = \frac{4}{\pi^2 N^2} \int_0^\infty \mathcal{L}(f) \sin^4(\pi f N T_0) \, df \qquad (5-12)$$

And interestingly enough, it can be directly related to the N-period cycle-to-cycle jitter with the multiplication of N-period's time:

$$\sigma_{\Delta y}(NT_0) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}NT_0} \sigma_{\tau cycN}$$
(5 - 13)

The relationship among jitter, PN and long term frequency accuracy has thus been clear to us and it is surprisingly simple. The widely used Allan Deviation for characterizing clock frequency stability is simply the N-period cycle-to-cycle jitter with a coefficient related to the measuring time. Figure 5-2 shows their relationship in both short term and long term.



Figure 5-2 Physical relations among phase noise, jitter, and frequency accuracy in both short term and long term

5.2.3. Noise shaping's impact on long term frequency accuracy

The phase noise profile of a frequency synthesizer can be viewed as a superposition of different noise sources shaped in various ways from a mathematic point of view. Moving from the lower frequency offset to the higher end, PN is firstly dominated by a flicker PN profile $(1/f^3)$ coming from the frequency reference, then to a nearly flat PN profile coming

from either the shaped oscillator PN or charge pump (TDC for digital PLL), and further to a white PN profile from the oscillator $(1/f^2)$, and eventually to a flat noise floor. Different kinds of noise shaping have very different influence on all the jitters mentioned above and eventually affect the frequency/phase change over time. The short term relationship among PN, jitter, and frequency accuracy associated with eq. (5-1~5-3) has already been demonstrated in a lot of previous publications, so in this session we will only focus on the long term frequency accuracy, such as the N-period-average jitter and Allan Deviation, due to PN and reveal how different PN profiles are accumulated and can be averaged over time.

Assuming system bandwidth of f_{BW} , and for the flat PN profile, the N-period-average jitter and Allan Deviation from eq.(8) and eq.(12) can be simplified as:

$$\sigma_{\tau_{pr}AVE}^{2} = \frac{\mathcal{L}_{0}}{\pi^{2} f_{0}^{2} N^{2}} \left[f_{BW} - \frac{\sin\left(\frac{2\pi f_{BW}N}{f_{0}}\right)}{\frac{2\pi N}{f_{0}}} \right]$$
(5 - 14)

$$\sigma_{\Delta y}^{2}(NT_{0}) = \frac{4\mathcal{L}_{0}}{\pi^{2}N^{2}} \left\{ \frac{3}{8} f_{BW} - \frac{\sin\left(\frac{2\pi N f_{BW}}{f_{0}}\right) - \frac{1}{8}\sin\left(\frac{4\pi N f_{BW}}{f_{0}}\right)}{\frac{4\pi N}{f_{0}}} \right\}$$
(5 - 15)

Where \mathcal{L}_0 denotes the flat PN level. It shows that with a flat PN profile, both the N-periodaverage jitter and Allan Deviation decrease with the increase of the number of periods N in time. It actually decrease with 1/N in log-scale as shown in Figure 5-3 in the blue line, which corresponds to the 'white phase' region in a typical Allan-Deviation plot.

For a white PN profile, generally assumed in the majority of free running oscillators with white noise only, the corresponding phase noise follows:

$$\mathcal{L}(f) = \frac{\mathcal{L}_s f_s^2}{f^2} \tag{5-16}$$

Where \mathcal{L}_s is the PN value sampled at f_s offset to the carrier. This integration is rather complicated which involves certain approximations in exponential integrals [112]. The Nperiod-average jitter and Allan Deviation can be simplified as:

$$\sigma_{\tau_{pr}AVE}^{2} \approx \frac{2\mathcal{L}_{s}f_{s}^{2}}{\pi f_{0}^{3}N}Si(\infty) = \frac{\mathcal{L}_{s}f_{s}^{2}}{Nf_{0}^{3}}$$
(5 - 17)

$$\sigma_{\Delta y}^2(NT_0) \approx \frac{2\mathcal{L}_s f_s^2}{\pi N f_0} Si(\infty) = \frac{\mathcal{L}_s f_s^2}{N f_0}$$
(5 - 18)

Where $Si(\infty) = \frac{\pi}{2}$ is the sine integral at infinity. Other secondary terms in (5-17) and (5-18) are neglected. The above two equations show that when only white noise is included in a free running oscillator, the N-period-average jitter and Allan Deviation will both decrease with time at the same rate following \sqrt{N} as shown in Figure 3. This goes the same way as the 'white frequency' region in Allan-Deviation plot as well.

And finally for the flicker PN profile, which is unavoidable in low frequency offsets for all kinds of oscillators, can be treated in a similar way while still assuming that the jitter is a stationary process. The PN profile in such case can be written as:

$$\mathcal{L}(f) = \frac{\mathcal{L}_s f_s^3}{f^3} \tag{5-19}$$

Substitute (5-19) in (5-8), we have:

$$\sigma_{\tau_{pr}AVE}^{2} = \frac{2\mathcal{L}_{s}f_{s}^{3}}{\pi^{2}f_{0}^{2}N^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\sin^{2}\left(\frac{\pi fN}{f_{0}}\right)}{f^{3}} df \qquad (5-20)$$

CAL

The above integral, however, will lead to non-converging results. Many theories have been developed in the past to explain the phenomenon of flicker noise yet it is still obscure and no explanation has been able to cover the fundamental origins. The stochastic process that involves flicker noise profile is actually non-stationary and simply apply the Wiener-

khintchin theorem is not 100% accurate. Actually even with only white noise, the calculation for phase jitter using equation (5-1) is not accurate as well since the integral involving a $1/f^2$ spectrum is also divergent and will result in a phase 'random walk' following the Wiener-Levy process. Thus, a frequency limit f_{min} towards the carrier is necessary for all the approximated calculation. As explained in [26], with the finite observation time in a measurement compared to the life time of the object, the noise can be treated as an almost-stationary process as the non-stationary behavior is dominated by all its 'past'. Another explanation is that although the spectrum of flicker noise will go to infinity with the frequency close to zero, the phase noise spectrum of an oscillator will actually saturate and show a Lorentzian spectrum profile. With or without the consideration of flicker noise, there will always be a noise corner below which the PN profile changes back to flat [100]. However, we cannot treat this flat PN profile the same as flat noise floor analyzed above. From a physical point of view, it is an ensemble behavior in time of the oscillator over the measurement time, rather than a different noise accumulation scheme. Thus, a low frequency limit below the noise corner of the Lorentzian spectrum will be meaningless in the frequency accuracy characterization. On the other hand, since the amount of energy in each decade across the given frequency range is the same for flicker noise, a low frequency limit in the same decade of the Lorentzian noise corner would be enough for frequency accuracy estimation.

Thus, assuming f_{min} as the lower integration boundary, (20) could be rearranged as:

$$\sigma_{\tau_{pr}AVE}^{2} \approx \frac{\mathcal{L}_{s}f_{s}^{3}}{f_{0}^{4}} \left[3 - 2\gamma - 2\ln\left(\frac{2\pi N f_{min}}{f_{0}}\right) + O(f^{2}) \right] \propto \ln\left(\frac{1}{N}\right) \qquad (5 - 21)$$

Where $\gamma \approx 0.5772$ is the Euler-Mascheroni constant [112]. In the same way, Allan Deviation can be simplified as the following form:

$$\sigma_{\Delta y}^2(NT_0) \approx \frac{4\mathcal{L}_s f_s^3}{f_0^2} [\ln(2) + O(f^2)]$$
 (5 - 22)

Equation (5-21) shows that the N-period-average jitter will almost keep unchanged yet still decrease with a rate of $\ln(1/N)$, while the Allan Deviation is a constant in a flicker noise profile. Their change over time N are shown in Figure 5-3 as well.



(a)



(b)



Figure 5-3 Flicker, white and flat PN profiles definition (a), N-period-average jitter (b), and Allan Deviation (c) vs time over flat, white and flicker PN profiles. For (b) and (c), all cases assume 1GHz center frequency with sampled PN=-120dBc/Hz @ 1MHz offset

It can be foreseen that if the PN with a spectrum like $1/f^{\alpha}$ and $\alpha > 3$, then both Nperiod-average jitter and ADEV will increase with time, which can be reflected in the typical Allan Deviation plot when the measurement time is very long. This could be resulted from changes in the external environment such as temperature and voltage, or could be some cross-correlation effect inside the oscillator, or could even because that the 'almost-stationary' assumption does not hold.

5.2.4. Flicker noise and limitation of averaging in frequency accuracy characterization

The above analysis shows that the time dependence of both N-period-average jitter and Allan Deviation to characterize oscillator's frequency accuracy varies with different PN noise profiles. As discussed above, frequency variations due to flat and white PN profiles can be minimized with the increase of averaging or measurement time while flicker noise will stop that trend from a statistical point of view. Looking at the time domain, the frequency error over time with flicker PN profile has the 'memory' of all the past frequency errors while the white PN only affect the 'current' noise status. This could be verified through the autocorrelation function of each case. With white PN profile, the autocorrelation of frequency error $R_f(\tau)$ is an impulse at $\tau = 0$ (or sinc function with limited bandwidth), and with flicker PN, it can be approximated as:

$$R_f(\tau) = \frac{C}{2\pi} [Ci(\omega_{BW}\tau) - Ci(\omega_{min}\tau)]$$
(5-23)

Where C is a constant and ω_{BW} , ω_{min} are the integration boundaries to assume it a stationary process.

With different measurement (averaging) time, the contribution of different PN profiles to frequency variation varies significantly. Intuitively, assume the PN sampling point in (5-17) and (5-20) is the same at the flicker noise corner for a free running oscillator, the Nperiod-average jitter due to white PN and flicker PN can be compared as follows:

$$\frac{\sigma_{\tau_{pr}AVE_{flicker}}^2(N)}{\sigma_{\tau_{pr}AVE_{white}}^2(N)} = \frac{f_c}{f_0} N \left[3 - 2\gamma - \ln\left(\frac{2\pi f_{min}N}{f_0}\right) \right]$$
(5 - 24)

Which shows that the jitter contribution from flicker noise is only affected by the flicker noise corner and averaging time N. Figure 5-4 shows ratio of flicker PN jitter to white PN jitter in the N-period-average jitter over time with different flicker noise corners plotted in log scale. It can be seen that when N=1, white PN contributes the majority of period jitter variations while with the increase of averaging time, flicker PN becomes the dominant noise source. A smaller flicker noise corner will reduces the N-period-average jitter and results in more frequency accuracy.



Figure 5-4 Ratio of flicker PN jitter and white PN jitter with f_0=1GHz and different flicker noise corners

So eventually, the frequency synthesizer's frequency stability over a long period of time is determined by the frequency reference's noise performance and limited by its flicker noise component no matter how much more noise was added by other noise sources in the PLL loop. The reference's PN is low pass filtered and up-converted by the frequency multiplication ratio, thus, in a long term, the frequency stability of the PLL output is a direct reflection of the reference's frequency stability. Figure 5-5 shows the simulated N-period-average jitter and Allan Deviation over time with different PN profiles. In the low frequency offset, their PN are all dominated by a flicker PN profile at the same level. And it can be seen that, after certain periods of time, all the PN profile converge at the same level.





Figure 5-5 N-period-average jitter (a) and Allan Deviation (b) of typical open loop oscillator including flat, white and flicker PN profiles in different levels.

The above analysis and simulation show 3 important features in frequency average and measurement:

- 1. Flicker noise has a small impact compared to white noise in short term period jitter while it has a significant impact in the long term frequency accuracy
- It is the flicker noise from the reference that dominate the long term frequency accuracy performance, and all other noise components in higher frequency offsets can be averaged out.
- Frequency average can be helpful in frequency calibration if the long term frequency accuracy can be evaluated with N-period-average jitter. Reference's performance can thus be defined in the XO-less applications.

5.3. An Embedded Filter Technique in ADPLL for Frequency Calibration

As discussed in session II, the long term frequency accuracy is solely depended on reference's flicker noise after certain time's frequency average, thus, an embedded jitter average processing unit (APU) in an ADPLL can be used to calibrate RF frequency even when the reference is, to some extent, noisy. Figure 5-6 (a) shows the simplified block diagram of the proposed frequency calibration loop based on a divider-less ADPLL. The average processing unit is embedded in the digital loop filter and perform a windowed averaging algorithm in the digital control word (DCW) fed into a digital controlled oscillator. Only the reference noise is shown in the diagram as the dominant noise source over a long time since other noise could be averaged as discussed in session II. During the calibration state, the average processing unit is running in the background to collect the changing digital control word fed into the DCO while the ADPLL is in locking status. The DCW is a reflection of the phase error difference with one loop delay in the PLL. So the DCW corresponds to period jitter of the reference clock and DCW_{AV} corresponds to the N-period-average jitter defined in session II, which are all related to frequency errors.





Figure 5-6 (a) Block diagram of the proposed average processing unit embedded in ADPLL. (b) Corresponding continuous time behavior model of the proposed frequency calibration circuit considering only reference noise source

In the typical 'calibrate and open-loop' scheme where the RF oscillator's PN is better than the standard requirement such as BLE, using DCW_{AV} rather than DCW will result in a much more accurate 'releasing frequency' when open loop. During the locking status of a PLL, the DCW in real time is a random process normally following a Gaussian distribution if no significant spurs exist. The 'releasing frequency' could be anywhere within $\pm 3\sigma_{pr}$ of the carrier frequency. While the 'releasing frequency' by using DCW_{AV} is within $\pm 3\sigma_{Npr_{AV}}$ of the carrier. And with enough time in the average process, $\sigma_{Npr_{AV}}$ could be much smaller than σ_{pr} depending on the noise performance of the reference itself. In another word, only the flicker noise of the reference contribute to frequency errors if using average process. And all noise sources will contribute errors in frequency if without.



Figure 5-7 Programmable windowed average processing algorithm for the 'calibration and open loop' frequency calibration scheme in XO-less wireless edge nodes

As analyzed in session II, longer averaging time would always help with the N-periodaverage jitter even when it exceeds the time constant associated with the flicker noise corner, which corresponds to:

$$N_c = \frac{\ln(2) f_0}{4f_c} \tag{5-25}$$

Where f_0 is the carrier frequency and f_c is the flicker noise corner. However, considering practical issues such as memory size, power and area of the APU, a total averaging time close to N_c is more efficient. On the other hand, spurious tones in the PLL will result in repetitive patterns in the DCW. Large fractional spurs below the flicker noise corner might result in slow fluctuation that couldn't be covered by the total averaging time. Thus in order to deal with potential large spurs, instead of averaging in one large window, it could be divided into several small windows separated by different time delays as shown in Figure 5-7. The waiting time between each average time window is programmable.

5.4. Different Types of References and XO-less Feasibility

The APU inside the ADPLL in session III could help reduce the 'releasing frequency' error down to a significantly lower level since only the flicker part of the reference noise would contribute to that error. On the other hand, we can also use the same method to directly define the required reference noise performance for frequency calibration where the 'calibrate and open-loop' scheme is feasible. As mentioned in session I, three kinds of references have been evaluated in the past to remove the high frequency XO as the PLL reference in the wireless edge nodes: RTC, RC oscillator and recovered RF signal. This session will evaluate all 3 cases with the help of the APU inside the ADPLL.



Figure 5-8 Simulated phase noise impact on N-period-average jitter and Allan Deviation for different noise sources: (a) XO representing RTC with excellent noise performance, (b) RC oscillator, (c) Recovered RF signal with and without modulation

RTC is widely used in SoCs for its digital clocking. Strictly speaking, RTC mostly uses crystal as well so it is an accurate reference source with excellent phase noise performance although operating at a low frequency. RC oscillators, on the other hand, are relatively noisy reference sources. And in order to use RC oscillator as a reference for frequency calibration, its frequency and temperature dependence shall be pre-characterized and an accurate temperature sensor shall be included in the design as well. This session will only focus on the noise part. The RF clock recovery case has a much more complicated phase noise profile since the RF signal could be modulated. For example, in a BLE network, the RF signal saw by the receiver on the wireless edge node is GFSK modulated. The frequency variation depends on the data packet but the center frequency can be considered accurate as it is regulated by the XO in the transmitter. On the other hand, depending on the receiver architecture, the phase noise could be further up-converted through the mixer. In this paper, we will not consider this effect coming from the receiver path, but rather just focus on the original PN profile from the incoming RF signal whether it is modulated or not.

So from noise's perspective, the RTC represents a low PN profile, the RC oscillator represents a high PN profile and the recovered RF signal represents complex PN profile depending on its modulation format and noise up-conversion in the receiver path due to mixer. In overall, the modulation would affect the PN in relatively high frequency offset while and noise up-conversion will affect all its PN profile. And in all cases, it is still the flicker noise after up-converted with its multiplication ratio $N = f_{RF}/f_{ref}$. Figure 5-8 shows PN profiles of the 3 cases where the RTC is referred to an XO design from [42]. The RC oscillator is referred to [40] and the RF signal shows both single tone and GFSK modulated signals without considering noise up-conversion due to the mixer. The corresponding simulated frequency accuracy with their approximated averaging number of periods are also shown.

Figure 5-8 (a) shows a typical RTC design divided from a high frequency XO oscillator. For previous 32.768 kHz RTC designs, it's rare to report phase noise performance at such a low frequency. So [42] is chosen as an example of RTC for its 'excellent noise performance'. The blue line is its original measured phase noise at 38.4MHz and the yellow line is the divided RTC noise performance. To be fair for all 3 cases, the red lines in all PN plots are up-converted to the same center frequency at 2.4GHz in ISM band. The corresponding N-period-average jitter and Allan Deviation of that RTC reference are shown below in Figure 5-8 (a) as well. As the flicker noise corner of the RTC is around 50 kHz, the resulting number of periods where ADEV turns flat is close to 4000. The behavior simulation using such PN profile shows a similar result.

Figure 5-8 (b) represents an excellent RC oscillator design. [114] reported its phase noise performance at 10MHz, which is redrawn in the blue line. The red is the up-converted PN at 2.4GHz as well. As can be seen from the NPAJ and ADEV plots, they also have a $N_c \approx 4000$ as the flicker noise corner is around 50 kHz as well. But since its noise performance is much worse than the RTC case in Figure 5-8 (a), both jitter performance and ADEV are around one magnitude worse than the RTC case.

The recovered RF signals were shown in Figure 5-8 (c). The single tone RF signal is directly coming from an open loop LC oscillator design at 2.4GHz while the other is GFSK modulated representing a general BLE packet. It has a 1Mbps data rate and 500 kHz frequency deviation. Although the PN performance could both be much better by incorporating a PLL design, the open loop cases shows the worst possible performance in the BLE compliant radios and shows a relatively high flicker noise corner. A PLL based design will eventually be limited by the frequency reference in the transmitter side. As seen from the jitter and ADEV plots, the two cases will converge with the increase of number of periods although the GFSK modulated case deviates from the single tone case in the middle. For the single tone case, the flicker noise corner is around 500 kHz and both the jitter and ADEV turns flat at around 400 periods. The jitter and ADEV plot for the GFSK

modulated case could be more complicated, since with the limited behavior simulation results, those regions have been masked by the blue line.

The above simulation results further show that it is the flicker part of the PN profile that eventually defines the frequency accuracy after calibration. Other noise sources only affect the time needed for the average process to achieve the flicker noise associated frequency accuracy. Figure 9 shows the relation between flicker PN and corresponding ADEV at 2.4 GHz. It can be seen that the RC oscillator from [115] shows a 2^{-5} ADEV while XO and RTC would offer around 6^{-9} ADEV. The RF signal, no matter modulated or not, would be able to offer better than 2^{-6} ADEV assuming no further noise upconversion from the receiver. If we take BLE as an example, as it has been proved that an open-loop LC oscillator can meet BLE phase noise requirement [111], we could specify phase noise requirement of its reference from the analysis above. According to the Bluetooth standard [41], it requires $\pm 150 \, kHz$ frequency offset, which corresponds to a 60ppm frequency accuracy requirement in Allan Deviation. It can be seen that all the example cases shown in Figure8 could meet this requirement, even the RC oscillator from [12]. To be more specific, any oscillator within 60ppm accuracy with accurately characterized temperature coefficient can be used as a frequency reference in an XO-less BLE edge nodes. The recovered RF modulated signal without considering the upconversion effect in the receiver path would meet that requirement as well.



Figure 5-9 Typical range of Allan Deviation according to flicker noise of different noise sources, and requirement for the reference clock in Bluetooth Low-energy applications

5.5. An XO-less BLE transmitter with RF reference recovery receiver

Figure 5-10 shows the block diagram of the proposed XO-less BLE transmitter with the RF reference recovery receiver and its working scheme. It's a collaborated project with Abdullah Alghaihab and Yao Shi. The focus of this thesis is highlighted in green in Figure 5-10. A BLE back-channel receiver [85] is implemented to help with channel estimation and coarse frequency tuning of LO1. LO1 hops over the advertising channels of BLE during this period and oversamples incoming patterned advertising packets, and thus predicts when the BLE packet will come in CH. 39 and coarsely tune the frequency of LO1 to 2.48GHz within \pm 1MHz accuracy. Then the RF reference recovery block will start the fine tuning of LO1. The RF BLE packet is down-converted to 8 MHz then amplified and filtered as the reference of both PLL1 for reference locking, and PLL2 for TX carrier

generation. As analyzed in the section 5.5, the GFSK modulation on the reference clock will result in extra phase noise but won't affect the frequency calibration accuracy providing enough averaging time in the PLL. The 2 PLLs utilizes the same recovered RF reference but are locked to 2 BLE ADV channels with different frequency control words (FCW). Their relationship with RF reference frequency can be summarized as follows:

$$f_{LO1} = \frac{FCW_1}{FCW_1 + 1} f_{RF} \tag{5-26}$$

$$f_{LO2} = \frac{FCW_2}{FCW_2 + 1} f_{RF}$$
(5 - 27)



Figure 5-10 Block diagram of the proposed XO-less BLE transmitter with RF reference recovery receiver and timing diagram showing the frequency calibration scheme of the LOs

Once the frequency of LO2 is calibrated to the targeted BLE channel and the DCO control word (DCW) is acquired after the averaging process in the PLL, the PLL will be open loop. The DCO will be GFSK modulated by one BLE packet, which is clocked by a divided LO2 frequency.



Figure 5-11 Block diagram of the proposed PLL with embedded multi-DCW average filtering unit

This section is going to be focusing on the yellow and blue blocks showing in Figure 5-10, including the PLLs, oscillators and the PA. Figure 5-11 shows the block diagram of the proposed PLL used in the RF reference recovery block and TX calibration and transmission block. It is based on the traditional type I divider-less ADPLL with a multi-DCW average-filtering unit (AU) embedded in the PLL controller. The AU performs average filtering with 2 stages. The first stage consists of several average sub-units controlled by programmable delays and programmable average time windows. As mentioned in section 5.3, the sub-units are chosen to get rid of large fractional-N spurs close to the carrier and the resulting DCW pattern associated with the spur position. The
second stage controls the total time for average filtering according to the flicker noise corner of the reference.

The PLL bandwidth is programmable as well, ranging between 20 kHz to 100 kHz. As analyzed in previous sections, the total phase noise seen by the AU is the sum of the PN coming from the reference, TDC and DCO. And the frequency calibration accuracy is only affected by the flicker noise coming from the reference. So the PLL bandwidth doesn't affect the overall noise performance. However, for this application, the minimum PLL bandwidth is defined by the total of PLL settling time and AU calculating time while the maximum PLL bandwidth is defined by the fine DAC tuning range of the LCDCO. As for incoming BLE packet for frequency calibration, the available calibration time is around 300µs and AU calculating time is at least tens of µs according to the flicker noise corner of the reference. Thus, the PLL shall be able to settle within 200 µs. On the other hand, as the reference carries GFSK modulation, the time varying DCW shall not exceed the fine DAC tuning range.

The LCDCO is using a typical CMOS architecture with both NMOS and PMOS cross coupled pairs as the negative resistance stage and a digitally tuned resistor tail, which is adopted from Yao Shi's previous design [117]. The tail resistor will help prevent the transistors enter triode region, thus improving the phase noise performance. The injection locked RO TDC is similar to the RO design in Figure 4-7. It has 6 pseudo-differential RO cells providing 12 TDC phases, which will result in a -80dBc/Hz in-band phase noise, as demonstrated in Chapter 3 & 4. Figure 5-12 shows the simplified circuit design of the LCDCO and the ILTDC. The PA is low power switched-capacitor digital PA and has the same design as Figure 4-10, which is optimized for low power efficiency as well.



Figure 5-12 schematic of the LCDCO and the ILTDC

Simulation of the frequency accuracy improvement is shown in Figure 5-13. The top two figures are using single tone RF reference while the bottom two figures are using GFSK modulated RF reference with random bits. The phase noise setup is the same as the one shown in Figure 5-8. When single tone RF reference is used, the improvements of frequency accuracy is significant even if the averaging time is small. However, if the reference is modulated, with practical averaging time, the improvements is not as effective as single tone input. When N equals to 1024 with the 8MHz reference frequency in this design, the necessary averaging time is 128 μ s, and the frequency can be easily calibrated into the standard required ±150 kHz frequency offset in packet transmission. When the averaging time is 16 μ s with N equals to 128, there will be around 3% chance that the frequency offset will be larger than required.

Direct measurement of the frequency calibration accuracy is hard to achieve, as once the desired DCW is calculated and the PLL becomes open loop, the frequency accuracy will be again dominated by the total phase noise profile rather than the flicker phase noise profile as analyzed from previous sections. In order to achieve real time monitoring, an onchip jitter testing block shall be included in the design. Indirect measurements from the DCW could be used as the DCW is associated with period jitter (and N-period average jitter) and frequency errors in a PLL. But since it is a sub-sample system, the impact of sample and hold should be taken into account as extra noise would be folded at lower frequency offset [116]. In this design, as we didn't pull out enough signal through PADs of this measurement, this testing results would not be able to be included.



Figure 5-13 simulated frequency accuracy improvements of the AU with single tone and GFSK modulated RF reference



Figure 5-14 Measured frequency response of the TX/RX LOs over time



Figure 5-15 Measured BLE TX spectrum and eye-diagram

Figure 5-14 shows the measured frequency response of the TX/RX local oscillators over time. After channel estimation, LO1 is locked to 2.480 GHz while LO2 in the transmitter is locked to 2.402 GHz for beacon transmission. In this setup, the PLL settling time is 50 µs for both LOs using a small PLL BW to filter the FSK signal in the reference. After the PLL is locked with certain guard time for frequency settling, the APU embedded in the loop filter will calibrate the DCW for 256 reference cycles in 32 µs and generate a new DCW that settles the frequency closer to the target in one measurement. In this measurement, the FSK reference is consecutive 1 and 0s. Figure 5-15 shows the spectrum measurement of the BLE TX and eye-diagram. The die photo of the proposed XO-less BLE TX is shown in Figure 5-16.



Figure 5-16 Die photo of the proposed XO-less BLE TX with RF reference recovery receiver

5.6. Conclusion

In this paper, phase noise and frequency accuracy has been analyzed for XO-less wireless edge nodes. The relationship among phase noise, different kinds of jitter, and both short term and long term frequency accuracy has been analyzed considering different phase noise profiles. It has been found that flicker noise plays an important role in defining how accurate the frequency of an oscillator could be over a long period of time. N-period-average jitter is introduced to characterize the long term frequency accuracy together with the widely used Allan Deviation.

In order to filter other noise sources and reach the flicker noise associated frequency accuracy limit in the frequency calibration process, we propose an embedded average processing unit in ADPLL by using the N-period-average jitter concept and thus directly link the frequency reference in a PLL to the overall calibrated frequency accuracy. Different frequency references XO has been evaluated through behavior model simulation. The results show that although XO based RTC offers significantly better performance compared to recovered RF reference and RC oscillators, the latter two can actually be used in frequency calibration even in some wireless communication standards, such as BLE. With the help of the APU, state-of-the-art RC oscillator could be used as a crystal replacement in the low cost wireless edge nodes designs. However, this paper only considers phase noise's impact on frequency accuracy without taking PVT variations into account. Thus, when design RC oscillator based systems, it has to be pre-characterized and a temperature sensor has to be included as well. The recovered RF signal, on the other hand, is more promising in the XO-less edge node designs as the incoming signal from a base station is already characterized. The modulation wouldn't necessarily affect the frequency calibration result providing enough time for the average process. But the tradeoff is actually in the receiver design. Designers have to balance between receiver sensitivity, blocker performance and the mixer noise up-conversion.

CHAPTER 6

Conclusions

Frequency synthesizer is one of the most important and sophisticated sub-system in radio designs and the key building block for further power and cost reduction in ultra-low power wireless integrated systems. Phase noise, as the primary specification in PLL and frequency synthesizer designs, is hard to be directly linked with radio design tradeoffs due to its complexity and the lack of a thorough system level interpretation. Thus, in order to reduce the radio power consumption to its physical limit while maintaining the standard required performance with sophisticated modulations, low power frequency synthesizer design is critical and has to be assisted with clear theoretical guidelines. On the other hand, removing the crystal oscillator in standard compliant radios such as BLE is appealing yet proved to be more challenging, and the limiting factor points to phase noise and PLL design as well. This thesis addresses the above issues by proposing system-focused phase noise theories, novel system architectures and low power circuit techniques.

The phase noise theories proposed in this dissertation can be separated into 2 parts. Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 can be viewed together as a top-down approach analyzing phase noise, jitter, and the resulting IFV in typical frequency modulated radio systems and PLL sub-systems. All noise sources in an ADPLL, such as the DCO, TDC, DAC, and reference, will contribute to a complex output phase noise profile that contribute to IFV. This IFV, as

a stationary process in frequency domain, represents the short term frequency errors over time and can affect frequency modulated wireless systems directly in various ways. It can be directly associated with bit error rate (BER) and modulation index etc., and further associated with SNR and sensitivity, making PN of the PLL sub-system a direct variable in link budget calculation from the radio system's point of view. In standard compliant radios, the IFV can be directly linked to standard specifications such as modulation eye diagram as well. The benefits of the use of IFV in frequency modulated wireless systems are 3-folded. The first is it offers a different angle in LO design for wireless transceivers. Apart from the generally known idea associating LO PN to RX blocker tolerance due to reciprocal mixing, this method of PN analysis enables FSK radios to be designed in a different way, especially transmitters in the ULP wireless edge nodes. The second is it offers a set of benchmarking specifications from the radio system, down to PLL subsystem, and further down to circuit blocks, making it easier for circuit designers to do tradeoffs between different circuit blocks. The third one is subtle but rather appealing to novel digital radio design methodologies. Although not demonstrated in this dissertation, but as part of a big project related to my research work, the top-down 'specification tree' would be helpful in fully autonomous wireless SoC design and synthesis. Such all linked 'specification tree' would be the baseline for automation tools in circuit design.

The second part of the proposed PN theory is a 'time extended' version of Chapter 2&3, but focusing more on frequency accuracy and stability of PLL due to its different PN sources, especially the reference noise. A more comprehensive relationship among different kinds of jitter, phase noise and frequency/phase error is summarized. As discussed in chapter 2, IFV is related to period jitter and represents the short term frequency error,

N-period-average jitter can be used to define long term frequency error and the N-period cycle-to-cycle jitter defines the long term frequency error rate. And it is found that the commonly used Allan Deviation (ADEV) in characterizing frequency accuracy is N-period-average cycle-to-cycle jitter divided by the total measurement time. Chapter 5 further reveals that it is the flicker noise in the reference of the total PLL output PN profile which dominate the frequency accuracy and stability. Other noise components from the PLL could be averaged out in measurement, or in other words, removed by a simple averaging algorithm. The unfiltered, low frequency flicker PN from the reference will eventually dominate the long term frequency accuracy and stability of the frequency synthesizer. This PN analysis would be able to help evaluate different kinds of references impact on long term PLL frequency accuracy as long as the PN profile of the reference itself is clear.

Several chip prototypes were implemented as demonstrations of the proposed PN theory. And they are all designed with state-of-the-art power-performance efficiency in their technology nodes. The first prototype is a 2.4GHz FSK transmitter in 65nm technology. It utilizes a SAR-assisted all-digital frequency locked loop and ultra-low power ring oscillator for frequency calibration and a switched-capacitor digital power amplifier for data transmission. It consumes 634µW in low power mode and is integrated with a battery-less SoC in a continuous sensing and post processing wearable SiP. This chip shows how the IFV due to PN affect the BER of an FSK communication system with different data rate, frequency deviation in a high SNR regime.

The second prototype is an all-digital ring oscillator-based Bluetooth low-energy transmitter for ultra-low-power radios in short range Internet-of-Things. The proposed transmitter features: 1) a wideband all-digital phase-locked loop with a quarter RF frequency RO and an embedded 5-bit TDC; 2) a 4 x frequency edge combiner to generate the 2.4-GHz signal; and 3) a switch-capacitor digital PA optimized for high efficiency at low transmit power level. These help reduce the power consumption and improve PN performance at the same time, and also enhance the TX efficiency for short range communications. The TX is prototyped in 40-nm CMOS, occupies an active area of 0.0166mm², and consumes 486 μ W in its low power mode while configured as a non-connectable BLE advertiser. As the first reported RO based BLE transmitter, it achieves a 10X power reduction and 40X chip area compared to state-of-the-art BLE transmitter designs that has been validated by wireless communication to a mobile phone. The TX design uses the PN theory proposed in Chapter 2 and finds the IFV limit associated with BLE modulation requirement, bringing down the TX power consumption and cost down to its physical limit.

The third prototype is an XO-less BLE transmitter with an RF reference recovery receiver in 40nm CMOS. The focus of this design is to use a typical ADPLL with an embedded average processing unit to extract the correct frequency control words for valid BLE data transmission in the target advertising channel, even with the received RF signal as its reference. The contribution of this work has to be closely related to the PN theory proposed in Chapter 5. The multi-DCW average filtering unit embedded in the loop filter of the ADPLL could filter the noise effect from white PN, flat PN, spurs and modulation introduced noise pattern and retrieve the accurate frequency information from the reference assuming the reference frequency follows a stationary random process. This cost-effective

APU unit in ADPLL could help frequency calibration with different kinds of XO replacement, such as RTC, RC oscillator and the recovered RF reference.

BIBLIOGRAPHY:

- [1] ARM white paper "The route to a trillion devices" [online]. community.arm.com/iot/b/blog/posts/white-paper-the-route-to-a-trillion-devices
- [2] F. Yahya et al., "A battery-less 507nW SoC with integrated platform power manager and SiP interfaces," 2017 Symposium on VLSI Circuits, Kyoto, 2017, pp. C338-C339.
- [3] A. Klinefelter et al., "21.3 A 6.45µW self-powered IoT SoC with integrated energy-harvesting power management and ULP asymmetric radios," 2015 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC) Digest of Technical Papers, San Francisco, CA, 2015, pp. 1-3.
- [4] N. E. Roberts and D. D. Wentzloff, "A 98nW wake-up radio for wireless body area networks," 2012 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium, Montreal, QC, 2012, pp. 373-376.
- [5] A. Roy et al., "A 6.45 μW Self-Powered SoC With Integrated Energy-Harvesting Power Management and ULP Asymmetric Radios for Portable Biomedical Systems," in IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuits and Systems, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 862-874, Dec. 2015.
- [6] David D. Wentzloff, "Ultra-Low Power Radio Survey," [online]. www.eecs.umich.edu/wics/low power radio survey.html
- [7] John G. Proakis, Masoud Salehi, "Digital communications," McGraw-Hill, 2008
- [8] N. E. Roberts et al., "26.8 A 236nW –56.5dBm-sensitivity bluetooth low-energy wakeup receiver with energy harvesting in 65nm CMOS," 2016 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2016, pp. 450-451.

- [9] S. Oh, N. E. Roberts and D. D. Wentzloff, "A 116nW multi-band wake-up receiver with 31-bit correlator and interference rejection," Proceedings of the IEEE 2013 Custom Integrated Circuits Conference, San Jose, CA, 2013, pp. 1-4.
- [10] P. P. Wang et al., "A Near-Zero-Power Wake-Up Receiver Achieving –69-dBm Sensitivity," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 53, no. 6, pp. 1640-1652, June 2018.
- [11] H. Jiang et al., "24.5 A 4.5nW wake-up radio with -69dBm sensitivity," 2017 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2017, pp. 416-417.
- [12] Bluetooth. "Core System Package [Low Energy Controller]," in Bluetooth Core Specification V 5.0. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.bluetooth.com/</u>
- [13] X. Chen et al., "A 486 µW All-Digital Bluetooth Low Energy Transmitter with Ring Oscillator Based ADPLL for IoT applications," 2018 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC), Philadelphia, PA, 2018, pp. 168-171.
- [14] Y. Shi, X. Chen, H. Kim, D. Blaauw and D. Wentzloff, "28.3 A 606µW mm-Scale Bluetooth Low-Energy Transmitter Using Co-Designed 3.5×3.5mm2 Loop Antenna and Transformer-Boost Power Oscillator," 2019 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, USA, 2019, pp. 442-444.
- [15] R. Pawula, "On the Theory of Error Rates for Narrow-Band Digital FM," in IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 29, no. 11, pp. 1634-1643, Nov 1981.
- [16] R. F. Pawula, "Refinements to the theory of error rates for narrow-band digital FM," in IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 509-513, Apr 1988.
- [17] M. Lont, D. Milosevic, G. Dolmans and A. H. M. van Roermund, "Implications of I/Q Imbalance, Phase Noise and Noise Figure for SNR and BER of FSK Receivers," in IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, vol. 60, no. 8, pp. 2187-2198, Aug 2013.
- [18] A. A. Abidi, "Phase Noise and Jitter in CMOS Ring Oscillators," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 41, no. 8, pp. 1803-1816, Aug 2006.

- [19] T. C. Weigandt, Beomsup Kim and P. R. Gray, "Analysis of timing jitter in CMOS ring oscillators," Proceedings of IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems - ISCAS '94, London, 1994, pp. 27-30 vol.4.
- [20] C. Samori, A. L. Lacaita, A. Zanchi and F. Pizzolato, "Experimental verification of the link between timing jitter and phase noise," in Electronics Letters, vol. 34, no. 21, pp. 2024-2025, 15 Oct 1998.
- [21] F. Herzel and B. Razavi, "A study of oscillator jitter due to supply and substrate noise," in IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems II: Analog and Digital Signal Processing, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 56-62, Jan 1999.
- [22] X. Chen, H. Kim and D. D. Wentzloff, "An analysis of phase noise requirements for ultra-low-power FSK radios," 2017 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC), Honolulu, HI, 2017, pp. 37-40.
- [23] D. Murphy et al., "A Blocker-Tolerant, Noise-Cancelling Receiver Suitable for Wideband Wireless Applications," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 47, no. 12, pp. 2943-2963, Dec. 2012.
- [24] M. Mikhemar, D. Murphy, A. Mirzaei and H. Darabi, "A Cancellation Technique for Reciprocal-Mixing Caused by Phase Noise and Spurs," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 48, no. 12, pp. 3080-3089, Dec. 2013.
- [25] H. Wu, M. Mikhemar, D. Murphy, H. Darabi and M. F. Chang, "A Blocker-Tolerant Inductor-Less Wideband Receiver With Phase and Thermal Noise Cancellation," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 2948-2964, Dec. 2015.
- [26] Nicola Da Dalt, Ali Sheikholeslami, "Understanding jitter and phase noise a circuit and system perspective" Cambridge university press, 2018.
- [27] J. P. Hong et al., "A 0.004mm2 250µW ΔΣ TDC with time-difference accumulator and a 0.012mm2 2.5mW bang-bang digital PLL using PRNG for low-power SoC applications," 2012 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference, San Francisco, CA, 2012, pp. 240-242.
- [28] N. August, H. J. Lee, M. Vandepas and R. Parker, "A TDC-less ADPLL with 200-to-3200MHz range and 3mW power dissipation for mobile SoC clocking in

22nm CMOS," 2012 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference, San Francisco, CA, 2012, pp. 246-248.

- [29] D. Tasca, M. Zanuso, G. Marzin, S. Levantino, C. Samori and A. L. Lacaita, "A 2.9–4.0-GHz Fractional-N Digital PLL With Bang-Bang Phase Detector and 560-\${rm fs}_{rm rms}\$ Integrated Jitter at 4.5-mW Power," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 46, no. 12, pp. 2745-2758, Dec. 2011.S27
- [30] W. Deng, A. Musa, T. Siriburanon, M. Miyahara, K. Okada and A. Matsuzawa, "A 0.022mm2 970µW dual-loop injection-locked PLL with –243dB FOM using synthesizable all-digital PVT calibration circuits," 2013 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers, San Francisco, CA, 2013, pp. 248-249.
- [31] T. K. Jang et al., "A 0.026mm2 5.3mW 32-to-2000MHz digital fractional-N phase locked-loop using a phase-interpolating phase-to-digital converter," 2013 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers, San Francisco, CA, 2013, pp. 254-255.
- [32] Z. Tang, X. Wan, M. Wang and J. Liu, "A 50-to-930MHz quadrature-output fractional-N frequency synthesizer with 770-to-1860MHz single-inductor LC-VCO and without noise folding effect for multistandard DTV tuners," 2013 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers, San Francisco, CA, 2013, pp. 358-359
- [33] W. Deng et al., "15.1 A 0.0066mm2 780µW fully synthesizable PLL with a current-output DAC and an interpolative phase-coupled oscillator using edgeinjection technique," 2014 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2014, pp. 266-267.
- [34] J. Liu et al., "15.2 A 0.012mm2 3.1mW bang-bang digital fractional-N PLL with a power-supply-noise cancellation technique and a walking-one-phase-selection fractional frequency divider," 2014 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2014, pp. 268-269.
- [35] G. Marucci, A. Fenaroli, G. Marzin, S. Levantino, C. Samori and A. L. Lacaita,"21.1 A 1.7GHz MDLL-based fractional-N frequency synthesizer with 1.4ps

RMS integrated jitter and 3mW power using a 1b TDC," 2014 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2014, pp. 360-361.

- [36] P. C. Huang, W. S. Chang and T. C. Lee, "21.2 A 2.3GHz fractional-N dividerless phase-locked loop with -112dBc/Hz in-band phase noise," 2014 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2014, pp. 362-363.
- [37] A. Elkholy, M. Talegaonkar, T. Anand and P. K. Hanumolu, "10.7 A 6.75-to-8.25GHz 2.25mW 190fsrms integrated-jitter PVT-insensitive injection-locked clock multiplier using all-digital continuous frequency-tracking loop in 65nm CMOS," 2015 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC) Digest of Technical Papers, San Francisco, CA, 2015, pp. 1-3.
- [38] M.-S. Yuan, C.-C. Li, C.-C. Liao, Y.-T. Lin, C.-H. Chang, and R. B. Staszewski, "A 0.45V sub-mW all-digital PLL in 16nm FinFET for Bluetooth Low-Energy (BLE) modulation and instantaneous channel hopping using 32.768kHz reference," Proc. of IEEE Solid-State Circuits Conf. (ISSCC), 14 Feb. 2018, pp. 448–449.
- [39] H. Kim et al., "14.4 A 5GHz –95dBc-reference-Spur 9.5mW digital fractional-N PLL using reference-multiplied time-to-digital converter and reference-spur cancellation in 65nm CMOS," 2015 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC) Digest of Technical Papers, San Francisco, CA, 2015, pp. 1-3.
- [40] T. Siriburanon et al., "25.2 A 2.2GHz –242dB-FOM 4.2mW ADC-PLL using digital sub-sampling architecture," 2015 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC) Digest of Technical Papers, San Francisco, CA, 2015, pp. 1-3.
- [41] L. Kong and B. Razavi, "25.7 A 2.4GHz 4mW inductorless RF synthesizer," 2015 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC) Digest of Technical Papers, San Francisco, CA, 2015, pp. 1-3.
- [42] T. Jang, S. Jeong, D. Jeon, K. D. Choo, D. Sylvester and D. Blaauw, "8.4 A 2.5ps 0.8-to-3.2GHz bang-bang phase- and frequency-detector-based all-digital PLL

with noise self-adjustment," 2017 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2017, pp. 148-149.

- [43] R. B. Staszewski and P. T. Balsara, All-Digital Frequency Synthesizer in Deep-Submicron CMOS, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 261 pages, 11 Sept. 2006. ISBN: 978-0-471-77255-2
- [44] Lacaita, A., Levantino, S., & Samori, C. (2007). Integrated Frequency Synthesizers for Wireless Systems. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511541131
- [45] H. Yoon et al., "A –31dBc integrated-phase-noise 29GHz fractional-N frequency synthesizer supporting multiple frequency bands for backward-compatible 5G using a frequency doubler and injection-locked frequency multipliers," 2018 IEEE International Solid - State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2018, pp. 366-368.
- [46] X. Gao, E. A. M. Klumperink, M. Bohsali and B. Nauta, "A Low Noise Sub-Sampling PLL in Which Divider Noise is Eliminated and PD/CP Noise is Not Multiplied by\$N ^{2}\$," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 44, no. 12, pp. 3253-3263, Dec. 2009.
- [47] X. Gao, E. A. M. Klumperink, G. Socci, M. Bohsali and B. Nauta, "Spur Reduction Techniques for Phase-Locked Loops Exploiting A Sub-Sampling Phase Detector," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 45, no. 9, pp. 1809-1821, Sept. 2010.
- [48] X. Gao et al., "9.6 A 2.7-to-4.3GHz, 0.16psrms-jitter, -246.8dB-FOM, digital fractional-N sampling PLL in 28nm CMOS," 2016 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2016, pp. 174-175.
- [49] B. Razavi, "A study of injection locking and pulling in oscillators," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 39, no. 9, pp. 1415-1424, Sept. 2004.
- [50] A. Hajimiri and T. H. Lee, "A general theory of phase noise in electrical oscillators," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 179-194, Feb. 1998.

- [51] A. Hajimiri, S. Limotyrakis and T. H. Lee, "Jitter and phase noise in ring oscillators," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 790-804, June 1999.
- [52] T. H. Lee and A. Hajimiri, "Oscillator phase noise: a tutorial," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 326-336, March 2000.
- [53] D. Ham and A. Hajimiri, "Concepts and methods in optimization of integrated LC VCOs," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 896-909, June 2001.
- [54] E. Hegazi, H. Sjoland and A. A. Abidi, "A filtering technique to lower LC oscillator phase noise," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 1921-1930, Dec. 2001.
- [55] A. Rofougaran, J. Rael, M. Rofougaran and A. Abidi, "A 900 MHz CMOS LCoscillator with quadrature outputs," 1996 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference. Digest of TEchnical Papers, ISSCC, San Francisco, CA, USA, 1996, pp. 392-393.
- [56] J. Prummel et al., "A 10 mW Bluetooth Low-Energy Transceiver With On-Chip Matching," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 3077-3088, Dec. 2015.
- [57] Y. Liu et al., "13.2 A 3.7mW-RX 4.4mW-TX fully integrated Bluetooth Low-Energy/IEEE802.15.4/proprietary SoC with an ADPLL-based fast frequency offset compensation in 40nm CMOS," 2015 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC) Digest of Technical Papers, San Francisco, CA, 2015, pp. 1-3.
- [58] T. Sano et al., "13.4 A 6.3mW BLE transceiver embedded RX image-rejection filter and TX harmonic-suppression filter reusing on-chip matching network," 2015 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC) Digest of Technical Papers, San Francisco, CA, 2015, pp. 1-3.
- [59] M. Babaie et al., "A Fully Integrated Bluetooth Low-Energy Transmitter in 28 nm CMOS With 36% System Efficiency at 3 dBm," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 51, no. 7, pp. 1547-1565, July 2016.

- [60] A. Sai et al., "A 5.5 mW ADPLL-Based Receiver With a Hybrid Loop Interference Rejection for BLE Application in 65 nm CMOS," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 51, no. 12, pp. 3125-3136, Dec. 2016.
- [61] F. Kuo et al., "A Bluetooth Low-Energy Transceiver With 3.7-mW All-Digital Transmitter, 2.75-mW High-IF Discrete-Time Receiver, and TX/RX Switchable On-Chip Matching Network," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 1144-1162, April 2017.
- [62] W. Yu, H. Yi, P. Mak, J. Yin and R. P. Martins, "24.4 A 0.18V 382µW bluetooth low-energy (BLE) receiver with 1.33nW sleep power for energy-harvesting applications in 28nm CMOS," 2017 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2017, pp. 414-415.
- [63] M. Ding et al., "A 0.8V 0.8mm2 bluetooth 5/BLE digital-intensive transceiver with a 2.3mW phase-tracking RX utilizing a hybrid loop filter for interference resilience in 40nm CMOS," 2018 IEEE International Solid - State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2018, pp. 446-448.
- [64] H. Liu et al., "An ADPLL-centric bluetooth low-energy transceiver with 2.3mW interference-tolerant hybrid-loop receiver and 2.9mW single-point polar transmitter in 65nm CMOS," 2018 IEEE International Solid - State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2018, pp. 444-446.
- [65] J. Yin, S. Yang, H. Yi, W. Yu, P. Mak and R. P. Martins, "A 0.2V energyharvesting BLE transmitter with a micropower manager achieving 25% system efficiency at 0dBm output and 5.2nW sleep power in 28nm CMOS," 2018 IEEE International Solid - State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2018, pp. 450-452.
- [66] A. C. W. Wong et al., "A 1 V 5 mA Multimode IEEE 802.15.6/Bluetooth Low-Energy WBAN Transceiver for Biotelemetry Applications," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 186-198, Jan. 2013.
- [67] Y. Shi et al., "A 10 mm3 Inductive Coupling Radio for Syringe-Implantable Smart Sensor Nodes," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 2570-2583, Nov. 2016.

- [68] P. P. Mercier, S. Bandyopadhyay, A. C. Lysaght, K. M. Stankovic and A. P. Chandrakasan, "A Sub-nW 2.4 GHz Transmitter for Low Data-Rate Sensing Applications," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 49, no. 7, pp. 1463-1474, July 2014.
- [69] Y. Lin, S. Park, X. Chen, D. Wentzloff and E. Yoon, "4.32-pJ/b, Overlap-Free, Feedforward Edge-Combiner-Based Ultra-Wideband Transmitter for High-Channel-Count Neural Recording," in IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 52-54, Jan. 2018.
- [70] L. Chuo et al., "7.4 A 915MHz asymmetric radio using Q-enhanced amplifier for a fully integrated 3×3×3mm3wireless sensor node with 20m non-line-of-sight communication," 2017 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2017, pp. 132-133.
- [71] V. K. Chillara et al., "9.8 An 860µW 2.1-to-2.7GHz all-digital PLL-based frequency modulator with a DTC-assisted snapshot TDC for WPAN (Bluetooth Smart and ZigBee) applications," 2014 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2014, pp. 172-173.
- [72] Yuming He, Yao-Hong Liu, Takashi Kuramochi, Johan van den Heuvel, Benjamin Busze, Nereo Markulic, Christian Bachmann, Kathleen Philips, "24.7 A 673µW 1.8-to-2.5GHz dividerless fractional-N digital PLL with an inherent frequency-capture capability and a phase-dithering spur mitigation for IoT applications", Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC) 2017 IEEE International, pp. 420-421, 2017.
- [73] Hanli Liu, Dexian Tang, Zheng Sun, Wei Deng, Huy Cu Ngo, Kenichi Okada, Akira Matsuzawa, "A 0.98mW fractional-N ADPLL using 10b isolated constantslope DTC with FOM of -246dB for IoT applications in 65nm CMOS", Solid -State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC) 2018 IEEE International, pp. 246-248, 2018.
- [74] F.-W. Kuo, R. Chen, K. Yen, H.-Y. Liao, C.-P. Jou, F.-L. Hsueh, M. Babaie, and R. B. Staszewski, "A 12mW all-digital PLL based on class-F DCO for 4G phones in 28nm CMOS," Proc. of 2005 IEEE Symp. on VLSI Circuits (VLSI), sec. 9.4, pp. 1–2, 12 June 2014, Honolulu, USA.

- [75] Y. Liu et al., "An Ultra-Low Power 1.7-2.7 GHz Fractional-N Sub-Sampling Digital Frequency Synthesizer and Modulator for IoT Applications in 40 nm CMOS," in IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, vol. 64, no. 5, pp. 1094-1105, May 2017.
- [76] M. Z. Straayer and M. H. Perrott, "A Multi-Path Gated Ring Oscillator TDC With First-Order Noise Shaping," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 1089-1098, April 2009.
- [77] R. B. Staszewski, J.Wallberg, S. Rezeq, C.-M. Hung, O. Eliezer, S. Vemulapalli,
 C. Fernando, K. Maggio, R. Staszewski, N. Barton, M.-C. Lee, P. Cruise, M. Entezari, K. Muhammad, and D. Leipold, "All-digital PLL and transmitter for mobile phones," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits (JSSC), vol. 40, iss. 12, pp. 2469–2482, Dec. 2005.
- [78] M. S. Chen, D. Su and S. Mehta, "A calibration-free 800MHz fractional-N digital PLL with embedded TDC," 2010 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2010, pp. 472-473.
- [79] J. Yin, et al., "A 0.003mm2 1.7-to-3.5GHz dual-mode time-interleaved ring-VCO achieving 90-to-150kHz 1/f3 phase-noise corner," ISSCC, pp. 48-49. Feb. 2016.
- [80] B. M. Helal, et al., "A Low Jitter Programmable Clock Multiplier Based on a Pulse Injection-Locked Oscillator With a Highly-Digital Tuning Loop," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 44, no. 5, pp. 1391-1400, May 2009
- [81] S. Yoo, J. S. Walling, E. C. Woo, B. Jann and D. J. Allstot, "A Switched-Capacitor RF Power Amplifier," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 46, no. 12, pp. 2977-2987, Dec. 2011.
- [82] A. Papoulis and S. U. Pillai, Probability, Random Variables and Stochastic Processes, 4th ed. McGraw-Hill, 2002.
- [83] Jun Yin, Pui-In Mak, Franco Maloberti and Rui P. Martins, "A Time-Interleaved Ring-VCO with Reduced 1/f³ Phase Noise Corner, Extended Tuning Range and Inherent Divided Output," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits (JSSC), vol. 51, no. 12, pp. 2979-2991, Dec. 2016.
- [84] N. Liu et al., "A 2.5 ppm/°C 1.05 MHz Relaxation Oscillator with Dynamic Frequency-Error Compensation and 8 μs Start-up Time," ESSCIRC 2018 - IEEE

44th European Solid State Circuits Conference (ESSCIRC), Dresden, 2018, pp. 150-153.

- [85] A. Alghaihab, J. Breiholz, H. Kim, B. Calhoun and D. D. Wentzloff, "A 150 μW –57.5 dBm-Sensitivity Bluetooth Low-Energy Back-Channel Receiver with LO Frequency Hopping," 2018 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC), Philadelphia, PA, 2018, pp. 324-327.
- [86] C. Andrews and A. C. Molnar, "A Passive Mixer-First Receiver With Digitally Controlled and Widely Tunable RF Interface," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 45, no. 12, pp. 2696-2708, Dec. 2010.
- [87] C. Andrews and A. C. Molnar, "Implications of Passive Mixer Transparency for Impedance Matching and Noise Figure in Passive Mixer-First Receivers," in IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 3092-3103, Dec. 2010.
- [88] A. Molnar and C. Andrews, "Impedance, filtering and noise in n-phase passive CMOS mixers," Proceedings of the IEEE 2012 Custom Integrated Circuits Conference, San Jose, CA, 2012, pp. 1-8.
- [89] A. Zhang and M. S. Chen, "A Sub-Harmonic Switching Digital Power Amplifier with Hybrid Class-G Operation for Enhancing Power Back-off Efficiency," 2018 IEEE Symposium on VLSI Circuits, Honolulu, HI, 2018, pp. 213-214.
- [90] D. D. Wentzloff and A. P. Chandrakasan, "A 47pJ/pulse 3.1-to-5GHz All-Digital UWB Transmitter in 90nm CMOS," 2007 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference. Digest of Technical Papers, San Francisco, CA, 2007, pp. 118-591.
- [91] Y. Park, D.D.Wentzloff, "An All-Digital 12 pJ/Pulse IR-UWB Transmitter Synthesized From a Standard Cell Library" in IEEE Jornal of Solid-State Circuits, vol.46, no.5, pp. 1147-1157, May 2011
- [92] J. Moody et al., "A -76dBm 7.4nW wakeup radio with automatic offset compensation," 2018 IEEE International Solid - State Circuits Conference -(ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2018, pp. 452-454.
- [93] D. Shaviv, A. Özgür and A. Arbabian, "Communication With Crystal-Free Radios," in IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 66, no. 10, pp. 4513-4520, Oct. 2018.

- [94] J. Bae, K. Song, H. Lee, H. Cho and H. Yoo, "A Low-Energy Crystal-Less Double-FSK Sensor Node Transceiver for Wireless Body-Area Network," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 47, no. 11, pp. 2678-2692, Nov. 2012.
- [95] J. Bae and H. Yoo, "A 45\$\mu\$W Injection-Locked FSK Wake-Up Receiver With Frequency-to-Envelope Conversion for Crystal-Less Wireless Body Area Network," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 1351-1360, June 2015.
- [96] G. Papotto, F. Carrara, A. Finocchiaro and G. Palmisano, "A 90-nm CMOS 5-Mbps Crystal-Less RF-Powered Transceiver for Wireless Sensor Network Nodes," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 335-346, Feb. 2014.
- [97] W. Chen, T. Lu, W. Ou, S. Chou and S. Yang, "A 2.4 GHz Reference-Less Receiver for 1 Mbps QPSK Demodulation," in IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 505-514, March 2012.
- [98] C. Li, M. Yuan, C. Liao, Y. Lin, C. Chang and R. B. Staszewski, "All-Digital PLL for Bluetooth Low Energy Using 32.768-kHz Reference Clock and ≤0.45-V Supply," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 53, no. 12, pp. 3660-3671, Dec. 2018.
- [99] B. Wheeler et al., "Crystal-free narrow-band radios for low-cost IoT," 2017 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC), Honolulu, HI, 2017, pp. 228-231.
- [100]A. Demir, A. Mehrotra and J. Roychowdhury, "Phase noise in oscillators: a unifying theory and numerical methods for characterization," in IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Fundamental Theory and Applications, vol. 47, no. 5, pp. 655-674, May 2000.
- [101]A. Demir, "Phase noise and timing jitter in oscillators with colored-noise sources," in IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Fundamental Theory and Applications, vol. 49, no. 12, pp. 1782-1791, Dec. 2002.
- [102]Kaertner, F. X. (1990), Analysis of white and f-α noise in oscillators. Int. J. Circ. Theor. Appl., 18: 485-519.

- [103]D. Ham and A. Hajimiri, "Virtual damping and Einstein relation in oscillators," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 407-418, March 2003.
- [104] M. Lax, "Classical noise. V. noise in self-sustained oscillators," Phys. Rev., vol. CAS-160, pp. 290–307, 1967.
- [105]M. S. Keshner, "Renewal Process and Diffusion Models of 1/f Noise," PhD dissertation, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 1975.
- [106] J. J. Rael and A. A. Abidi, "Physical processes of phase noise in differential LC oscillators," in Proc. IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conf., Orlando, FL, May 2000, pp. 569–572.
- [107]D. B. Leeson, "A simple model of feedback oscillator noise spectrum," Proc. IEEE, vol. 54, pp. 329–330, Feb. 1966.
- [108]F. Herzel and B. Razavi, "A study of oscillator jitter due to supply and substrate noise," IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II, vol. 46, pp. 56–62, Jan. 1999.
- [109]K. A. Kouznetsov and R. G. Meyer, "Phase noise in LC oscillators," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. 35, pp. 1244–1248, Aug. 2000.
- [110]E. Hegazi, H. Sjoland, and A. A. Abidi, "A filtering technique to lower LC oscillator phase noise," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. 36, pp. 1921–1930, Dec. 2001.
- [111]X. Chen et al., "Analysis and Design of an Ultra-Low-Power Bluetooth Low-Energy Transmitter With Ring Oscillator-Based ADPLL and 4 \$\times\$ Frequency Edge Combiner," in IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 1339-1350, May 2019.
- [112]M. Abramowitz and I. Stegun, Eds., Handbook of Mathematical Functions with Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables. Dover, 1965.
- [113]M. S. Keshner, "1/f noise," in Proceedings of the IEEE, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 212-218, March 1982.
- [114] J. Lee, A. George and M. Je, "5.10 A 1.4V 10.5MHz swing-boosted differential relaxation oscillator with 162.1dBc/Hz FOM and 9.86psrms period jitter in 0.18µm CMOS," 2016 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2016, pp. 106-108.

- [115]D. Griffith, F. Dülger, G. Feygin, A. N. Mohieldin and P. Vallur, "A 65nm CMOS DCXO system for generating 38.4MHz and a real time clock from a single crystal in 0.09mm2," 2010 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium, Anaheim, CA, 2010, pp. 321-324.
- [116]S. Levantino, L. Collamati, C. Samori and A. L. Lacaita, "Folding of Phase Noise Spectra in Charge-Pump Phase-Locked Loops Induced by Frequency Division," in IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems II: Express Briefs, vol. 57, no. 9, pp. 671-675, Sept. 2010.
- [117]O. Abdelatty, H. Bishop, Y. Shi, X. Chen, A. Alghaihab, B. Calhoun and D. Wentzloff, "A Low Power Bluetooth Low-Energy Transmitter with a 10.5nJ Startup-Energy Crystal Oscillator," Proceedings of the 45th European Solid-State Circuits Conference, Krakow, Poland, 2019